
MORGAN COUNTY COMMISSION 

A G E N D A  

March 02, 2021 

10:00 AM 

150 East Washington Street, Madison, GA 

2nd Floor Meeting Room 
 

 

 

Pledge and Invocation 
  

Agenda Approval 

 

Scheduled Public Comment 
1. Scheduled Public Comment-Matthew Schulze 

  

Minutes 
2. February 02, 2021 BOC Meeting 

3. February 09, 2021 Public Hearing 

4. February 09, 2021 Special Called Meeting 

5. February 16, 2021 Work Session 

6. February 16, 2021 BOC Meeting 

  

Consent Agenda 
7. Motion to accept as information the February 2021 payables to include General Fund in the amount 

of $1,125,159.81, TSPLOST in the amount of $151,792.08, SPLOST in the amount of $70,099.34, 

General Fund electronic payments in the amount of $140,907.39 and the February 2021 financials 

  

Time Certain 
 

11:00 AM Planning Commission 
  

Planning Commission New Business 
8. Georgia Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation is requesting a zoning map amendment, from 

AG to C2, for 20 acres located on Lions Club Road (Highway 441 by-pass across from 

Morgan Medical Center)(Tax Parcel 036E-009). 

9. Farmview Market, LLC, is requesting a variance to the maximum size and height for a flag 

for 46.11 acres located at 2610 Eatonton Highway (Tax Parcel 046-005). 

  

New Business 
10. Development Services Intergovernmental Contract between the JDA, Jasper County, Morgan 

County, Newton County and Walton County 

11. Development Agreement between Baymare and Newton County - Acknowledgment  

12. Infrastructure Agreement between Baymare and the JDA -Acknowledgement  

13. Resolution to Authorize the Morgan County Board of Tax Assessors to Enter into a Contract with 

Baymare and the JDA 

14. GDOT Quitclaim Deed Sewell Church Rd ROW 

15. Resolution - Property Conveyance for Relocation of a portion of Sewell Church Rd 

- 1 -



16. Resolution - Consent to Acquisition of Land for Madison Airport Expansion 

17. Resolution – Extension of Temporary Moratorium 

18. Request from Shahida Jahan with Fairplay Management LLC for an Alcoholic Beverage License 

at 2700 Fairplay Road 

19. Request from Barbara Williams Sauerbier to abandon a portion of CR-67, Cumming Drive 

20. Request from Mark Giles with GDOT to abandon CR-235 

21. Fee Schedule for Animal Services 

22. Request from Carol Sanchez, Park Manager for HLCSP, to lower the speed limit and install speed 

tables on Knox Chapel Road 

23. County Manager Report 

24. Public Comments on Agenda Items 

- 2 -



- 3 -



February 02, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN REGULAR SESSION.   

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, Donald Harris and Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, Procurement Director Mark Williams, County 

Attorney Christian Henry, and County Clerk Leslie Brandt.       

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL 
  

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to approve agenda with 

the following additions:  Development Regulations Discussion under Unfinished Business and 

Potential Litigation under Executive.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

SCHEDULED PUBLIC COMMENT-CHARLES KEITH PHARR 

Mr. Pharr of 2831 Cedar Grove Road spoke before the Board regarding the Kingston Road 

dumpster site.  Mr. Pharr purchased his property with knowledge of the dumpster site location.  

However, since that time, he has noticed leakage from the site onto his property and traffic safety 

issues.  Mr. Pharr is requesting the Board to consider removing the dumpster location. 

 

The Board informed Mr. Pharr they will research the issue further. 

 

MINUTES 
January 05, 2021-Public Hearing 

January 05, 2021-BOC Meeting 

January 19, 2021-BOC Meeting 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to approve the minutes 

as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

   

CONSENT AGENDA 

Motion to accept as information the January 2021 payables to include General Fund in the 

amount of $623,043.29, TSPLOST in the amount of $693,169.67, SPLOST in the amount of 

$179,270.31, General Fund electronic payments in the amount of $367,421.15 and the January 

2021 financials. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the consent 

agenda as presented. Unanimously Approved. 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

Planning Director, Chuck Jarrell gave an update of the ongoing revisions to the development 

regulations. 

 

COURTHOUSE CLOCKTOWER REPAIRS 

Public Buildings identified cracking in the support beams for the Courthouse clock tower.  An 

RFP to repair the damage was prepared and only one company, Reams Enterprises submitted a 

bid.  The cost to complete the repairs is $49,780 and will be funded from the Capital Projects 

Fund. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Kurz to award the contract to 

Reams Enterprises for $49,780. Unanimously Approved. 

 

COUNTY MANAGER REPORT 

County Manager, Adam Mestres, presented a monthly overview of Morgan County government's 

current projects and/or issues. 

 

- 4 -



February 02, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 

Public comments were made by: 

Jean Sims-Reid regarding development regulations.  

 

ELLIS & CRYSTAL JOHNSON ARE REQUESTING CONDITIONAL USE 

APPROVAL TO ALLOW A CHURCH ON 19.79 ACRES LOCATED AT 1051 MEADOW 

LANE (TAX PARCEL 042-003G) 

Senior Planner, Tara Cooner stated Ellis and Crystal Johnson are requesting a conditional use 

approval for a church at 1051 Meadow Lane.  This is the second time the applicants have come 

to the Planning Commission and the Board of Commissioners to request a church at this location.  

The building is the historic Sugar Creek Church that was saved from demolition by being moved 

to this property in 2015 with the intent to use it as part of the event facility at Hundred Acre Farm.  

Later, the applicant was approached by Center Pointe Church to use the building for regular 

church services, and the applicant requested conditional use approval in October 2019 for 

temporary church services.  The applicant stated at the time, regular services were not desired, 

and Center Pointe would only use the structure until the congregation constructed their own 

church.  At that time, the applicants refused to pave the parking lot at the church, which is a 

requirement in Morgan County. 

 

Cooner noted that Center Pointe Church came before the Board of Commissioners five months 

prior to October 2019 to ask for permission to build a church and approval was given.  This 

coming April will be two years since the approval, which has now expired because Center Pointe 

has not started construction. 

 

The Johnson’s request in 2019 for temporary church services was approved by the Board of 

Commissioners with the condition, that should services continue longer than twelve months the 

church must comply with all requirements of the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance, which 

includes paving the parking lot.  The specified twelve months expired in October 2020. 

 

The applicants have now reapplied, seeking approval to continue to operate the building for 

regular church services with the caveat that the parking lot be left grass.  At the Planning 

Commission meeting, Christian Chandler spoke on behalf of the applicants and reiterated that 

the Johnson’s do not want a permanent church, but for Center Pointe to be allowed to use the 

building until they find another location or build a new structure. 

 

The Planning Commission voted unanimously to recommend denial of the conditional request 

unless the parking lot was brought into compliance with the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance 

within 90-days.  This would give Center Pointe Church 90-days to find other accommodations. 

 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed proponents to speak: 

No one spoke in favor of the request. 

 

Chairman von Hanstein allowed opponents to speak: 

No one spoke in opposition. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Kurtz, seconded by Commissioner Riden to deny the conditional 

use and allow 90-days for Center Pointe Church to find other accommodations.  Unanimously 

Approved. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Riden to exit regular 

session.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION- POTENTIAL LITIGATION 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Riden to enter Executive 

Session to discuss potential litigation at 11:11 a.m. Unanimously Approved.  (Original signed 

Affidavit in Executive Session Legal Requirement Book). 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Riden to exit Executive 

Session and adjourn at 11:50 a.m.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

- 5 -



February 02, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk       

- 6 -



February 09, 2021  

Public Hearing 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY FOR A PUBLIC HEARING.   

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, Donald Harris and Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, County Attorney Christian Henry, and County 

Clerk Leslie Brandt       

 

The public hearing was called to order at 9:30 a.m. 
 

ROAD ABANDONMENT FOR PORTIONS OF SEWELL CHURCH ROAD (CR-46) 

AND STANTON ROAD (CR-368) IN ITS ENTIRETY  

A request made by an adjoining landowner, the Joint Development Authority (JDA) to the Board 

of Commissioners of Morgan County that it consider abandoning the right of way of: 

 

(a) All that strip of land forming Stanton Road (County Road 368) right of way a/k/a 

Unnamed Road (“Stanton Road”) located in the 19th Land District, Land Lots 64 and 63 

of Morgan County, Georgia, and further described as beginning at the point where 

Stanton Road commences at the Walton County and Morgan County line and runs 

approximately 3,000 feet east to its intersection with Sewell Church Road; and  

 

(b) All that strip of land forming that portion of Sewell Church Road (County Road 46) right 

of way located in the 19th Land District, Land Lots 34, 63, and 62 of Morgan County, 

Georgia, and further described as beginning at its intersection with Sewell Lane and 

running approximately 3,740 feet north until it intersects with GDOT-owned right of way 

just south of a bridge over Interstate 20 in Morgan County, Georgia.  

 

(c)   

Shane Short with the JDA gave a brief history of the JDA and its purpose. 

 

Andrea Gray outlined the areas in the abandonment request.   

 

The request is being made to develop the remaining portion of the industrial park.  The road 

portions included in the request run through the middle of the industrial property.  

 

Chairman von Hanstein opened the floor for public comment. 

Public comments were made by:  

Alan Verner, JDA Chairman, conveyed the support of the JDA for the abandonment request. 

 

Other public comments were made by: 

Richard Harris, member of Sewell Church 

Sandy Morehouse, Morgan County property owner 

Robby Lanier, Morgan County Resident 

Lee Whitaker, Morgan County Resident 

 

Residents were concerned how the road abandonment would impact church members, future 

development and wanted access to the industrial park. 

 

The public hearing concluded at 10:00 a.m. 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk       

- 7 -



February 09, 2021 

BOC Special Called Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN A SPECIAL CALLED MEETING.   

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, Donald Harris and Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, County Attorney Christian Henry, and County 

Clerk Leslie Brandt.       

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:00 a.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL 
  

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to approve agenda as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

ROAD ABANDONMENT FOR PORTIONS OF SEWELL CHURCH ROAD (CR-46) 

AND STANTON ROAD (CR-368) IN ITS ENTIRETY (2021-RES-002) 

A request made by an adjoining landowner (the Joint Development Authority) to the Board of 

Commissioners of Morgan County that it consider abandoning the right of way of: 

 

(a) All that strip of land forming Stanton Road (County Road 368) right of way a/k/a 

Unnamed Road (“Stanton Road”) located in the 19th Land District, Land Lots 64 and 63 

of Morgan County, Georgia, and further described as beginning at the point where 

Stanton Road commences at the Walton County and Morgan County line and runs 

approximately 3,000 feet east to its intersection with Sewell Church Road; and  

 

(b) All that strip of land forming that portion of Sewell Church Road (County Road 46) right 

of way located in the 19th Land District, Land Lots 34, 63, and 62 of Morgan County, 

Georgia, and further described as beginning at its intersection with Sewell Lane and 

running approximately 3,740 feet north until it intersects with GDOT-owned right of way 

just south of a bridge over Interstate 20 in Morgan County, Georgia.   

 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve Resolution 

2021-RES-002 to abandon portions of Sewell Church Road (CR-46-) and Stanton Road (CR-

368) in its entirety as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

   

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Riden to exit the Special 

Called Meeting and adjourn at 10:03 a.m.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk       

- 8 -



February 16, 2021 

BOC Work Session 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY FOR A WORK SESSION. 

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, Donald Harris and Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, Planning Director Chuck Jarrell, County 

Attorney Christian Henry, Procurement Director Mark Williams, and County 

Clerk Leslie Brandt. 

 

 

The meeting was called to order at 3:00 p.m. 
 

DISCUSSION OF DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  

Planning Director, Chuck Jarrell discussed the ongoing updates to the development regulations 

and received feedback from the Board. 

 

The Board will address the current moratorium on subdivisions at the March 2, 2021 Board 

meeting. 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk        

- 9 -



February 16, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

THE HONORABLE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, MADISON, GEORGIA, 

MET THIS DAY IN REGULAR SESSION. 

 
MEETING WAS HELD ON THE SECOND FLOOR OF THE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING. 

 

PRESENT: Chairman Philipp von Hanstein, Vice-Chair Ben Riden, Jr., Commissioners Bill 

Kurtz, Donald Harris and Andy A. Ainslie, Jr. 

STAFF: County Manager Adam Mestres, County Attorney Christian Henry, Procurement 

Director Mark Williams, and County Clerk Leslie Brandt. 

 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m., followed by the Pledge of Allegiance and 

Invocation. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve agenda with 

the following addition:  JAG Agreement under New Business.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY AMENDMENT 

The City of Madison is making a request to amend the current Service Delivery Strategy (SDS) 

approved by The Georgia Department of Community Affairs (DCA) in March 2019. The 

amendment requested is to add a new service titled Facility - Madison-Morgan County Boys and 

Girls Club. This would be a county-wide service provided by the City of Madison. 

 

Motion by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve resolution 2021-

RES-006 SDS Amendment as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

TAX COMMISSIONER-RESOLUTION TO WAIVE AMOUNTS OWED FOR 

PENALTIES & INTEREST  

 

Motion by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve resolution 2021-

RES-003 approving the Morgan County Tax Commissioner to waive certain penalties and 

interest as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

TAX COMMISSIONER-RESOLUTION TO WAIVE AMOUNTS OWED 

 

Motion by Commissioner Kurtz, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve resolution 2021-

RES-004 authorizing the Morgan County Tax Commissioner to waive certain amounts of taxes 

owed as presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

TAX COMMISSIONER-RESOLUTION FOR JUDICIAL IN REM  

 

Motion by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve resolution 2021-

RES-005 approving judicial in rem foreclosures by the Morgan County Tax Commissioner as 

presented.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

RESOURCE PRESERVATION ADVISORY BOARD VACANCY 

Elzata Brown submitted an application to be considered for reappointment to the Morgan County 

Resource Preservation Advisory Board. Ms. Brown's term expired 12/31/2020.  No other 

applications were received. 

 

Motion by Commissioner Harris, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to reappoint Elzata Brown 

to the Morgan County Resource Preservation Advisory Board with term ending 12/31/2023.  

Unanimously Approved. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION BOARD VACANCY 

Blake McCormack submitted an application for the Planning Commission Board to fill the vacant 

term of Brian Lehman that expired 12/31/2020.  No other applications were received. 

 

- 10 -



February 16, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Motion by Commissioner Riden, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to appoint Blake 

McCormack to the Morgan County Planning Commission Board with term ending 12/31/2023.  

Unanimously Approved. 

 

PROPERTY TO BE DECLARED SURPLUS 

The following items were presented to be declared surplus property: 

 
Motion by Commissioner Kurtz, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to declare the items 

presented as surplus to be sold/disposed.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

PURCHASE OF RADAR UNITS 

The Sheriff’s Office has obtained quotes to purchase of nine new radar units to be installed in the 

nine new patrol cars. The Sheriff’s Office recommends purchasing the patrol model from Stalker 

for $15,295.50. 

 

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Kurtz to approve the purchase of 

Radars from Stalker for $15,295.50.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

EQUIPMENT FOR SHERIFF'S VEHICLES 

The Sheriff’s Office has obtained quotes for the purchase and installation of emergency 

equipment on the nine new patrol cars that have been ordered.  Sheriff’s Office recommends 

purchasing from Interceptor for $94,232.43 ($ 10470.27 per vehicle). 

 

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Riden to approve the purchase 

from Interceptor for $94,242.43.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

JAG AGREEMENT 

Every five years the County enters into an agreement for probation services.  JAG (Judicial 

Alternative of GA) is the entity that provides that service for Morgan County for Probate, 

Municipal and Superior Court.  The current agreements on file do not expire until November 30, 

- 11 -



February 16, 2021 

BOC Regular Meeting 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

2022.  However, since there has been a change in the Judge for Superior Court, a new agreement 

must be approved and signed by the new Judge and the Board of Commissioners.  Other than the 

change in the Superior Court Judge, the agreement remains the same and will expire concurrently 

with the agreements for Probate and Municipal Court on November 30, 2022. 

 

Motion by Commissioner Ainslie, Seconded by Commissioner Harris to approve the JAG 

agreement for probation services for Superior Court to expire November 30, 2022.  Unanimously 

Approved. 

 

COMMISSIONNER LIAISON REPORTS 

Commissioners gave updates on Liaison assignments. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 

Public comments were made by: 

Mike Conrads, Morgan County Resident 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Ainslie, seconded by Commissioner Riden to exit regular session 

and adjourn 5:34 p.m.  Unanimously Approved. 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Philipp von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Leslie Brandt, County Clerk        

- 12 -



- 13 -



- 14 -



- 15 -



- 16 -



- 17 -



- 18 -



- 19 -



- 20 -



- 21 -



- 22 -



- 23 -



- 24 -



1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: Lions Club Road   

Property tax parcel: 036E-009 

Acreage: 20 acres  

Applicant: Georgia Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation  

Applicant’s Agent: Shayne Goddard   

Property Owner: Georgia Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation. McDonough, Georgia 

Existing Zoning: AG (Agricultural) 

Proposed Zoning: C2 (General Commercial)  

 

Summary 

        

 
Georgia Sheriffs Youth Home Foundation is requesting a zoning map amendment, from AG to C2, for 20 

acres located on Lions Club Road across from Morgan Medical Center. The 20 acres is in the center of 

the parcel outlined in blue in the photo above. The proposed use of the property is a 23,000 square foot 

building that will house offices for the Georgia Sheriffs Youth Home Foundation and affiliated 

organizations. 

Petition for:  Zoning Map Amendment  

        

Hospital 

- 25 -



2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

 

 

 
The parcel is currently zoned AG. The Character Area Map from the Morgan County Comprehensive Plan 

shows the parcel as Medical. See attached for the description of the Medical Character Area. 

 

County AG 

County R1 

City P1 

City C3 

City R 

Zoning Map 

Character Area Map 

Transitional 

Medical 

- 26 -



3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

The applicant’s letter stresses that the location will not be used for a youth home. The building will be 

used to house office spaces and training facilities. The site plan provided is preliminary and may change 

but represents the basic concept for the project.  

 

Criteria for Consideration  

        
(Please note that the criteria below are bulleted in the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance, Section 19.3.1. 

They are numbered here for ease of use.  

1. Compatibility with Adjacent Uses and Districts:  Existing uses and use districts of surrounding 
and nearby properties, whether the proposed use district is suitable in light of such existing uses 
and use districts of surrounding and nearby properties, and whether the proposal will adversely 
affect the existing use or usability of adjacent or nearby properties.  

2. Property Value:  The existing value of the property contained in the petition under the existing 

use district classification, the extent to which the property value of the subject property is 

diminished by the existing use district classification, and whether the subject property has a 

reasonable economic use under the current use district.  

3. Suitability:  The suitability of the subject property under the existing use district classification, 

and the suitability of the subject property under the proposed use district classification.  

4. Vacancy and Marketing:  The length of time the property has been vacant or unused as currently 

used under the current use district classification; and any efforts taken by the property owner(s) 

to use the property or sell the property under the existing use district classification.  

5. Evidence of Need:  The amount of undeveloped land in the general area affected which has the 

same use district classification as the map change requested. It shall be the duty of the applicant 

to carry the burden of proof that the proposed application promotes public health, safety, 

morality or general welfare.  

6. Public Facilities Impacts:  Whether the proposal will result in a use, which will or could cause an 

excessive or burdensome use of existing streets, transportation facilities, utilities, schools, parks 

or other public facilities and services.  

7. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan:  Whether the proposal is in conformity with the policy 

and intent of the locally adopted comprehensive plan.  

8. Other Conditions:  Whether there are any other existing or changing conditions affecting the use 

and development of the property that give supporting grounds for either approval or 

disapproval of the proposal.  

 

Staff Comments 

        
The Comprehensive Plan identifies this area as Medical, which was originally envisioned as offices and 

professional services to support Morgan Medical Center. The description for Medical allows for office 

uses as well, therefore, the propose use is not outside the scope identified in the Comp Plan.  

- 27 -



- 28 -



- 29 -



- 30 -



- 31 -



1 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

           

   Staff Report 

    Morgan County Planning Commission 

  

Property location: 2610 Eatonton Highway  

Property tax parcel: 046-005  

Acreage: 46.11 acres  

Applicant: Farmview Market, LLC 

Applicant’s Agent: Keith Kelly   

Property Owner: Farmview Market, LLC 

Existing Use: Commercial 

Variance Requested: Commercial with large flag 

  

Summary 

        
Keith Kelly, on behalf of Farmview Market, is requesting a variance to the maximum size for an official 

flag for a 46 acre commercial (C2) property located at 2610 Eatonton Highway. The applicant is 

requesting a 10’ x 15’ flag and a 55’ tall pole.  

Section 17.6.6   Official or Personal Flag 

 

Any cloth, paper, thin plastic, or similar material that is displayed by hanging or flying, representing in 

whole the officially adopted symbol or emblem of a government, political subdivision, institution, 

organization, or corporation; a flag adopted or flown by a person as a symbol or statement, is permitted 

if it complies with all of the following: 

 

• No more than 3 official and personal flags may be displayed on a lot. 

• Official and personal flags shall not exceed 32 square feet in area, nor be located on flagpoles 

that exceed the building height limitation of the zoning district for the property where the flag is 

displayed. 

• The official flag of the United States of America shall be flown in accordance with protocol 

established by the Congress of the United States for the Stars and Stripes. 

 

The maximum height allowed in the C2 zoning district is 75 feet. Therefore, a variance is not required for 

the proposed height, but is necessary for the size of the flag.  

 

 

 

Petition for:  Variance – Size of Official Flag  

        

- 32 -



2 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Criteria for Consideration 

        
From the Morgan County Zoning Ordinance Section 20.3.1 Required Findings for Variance Approval: 

 
1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the property because of size, 

shape and topography; 

2. The literal application of this Ordinance would create an unnecessary hardship; 

3. A variance would not cause substantial detriment to public good and impair the purposes and 

intent of this Ordinance; 

4. A variance would not confer upon the property of the applicant any special privilege denied to 

other properties in the district; 

5. The special circumstances surrounding the request for the variance are not the result of acts of 

the applicant; 

6. The variance is not a request to permit a use of land, buildings, or structures which is not 

permitted by right or by conditional use in the district; 

7. The zoning proposal is consistent with all standards and criteria adopted by Morgan County; 

8. The variance is the minimum variance that will make possible an economically viable use of the 

land, building or structure. 

 

- 33 -



3 
Morgan County Planning & Development 

150 E. Washington Street, Suite 200 
Madison, Georgia  30650 

Staff Comments 

        
While the request is not a detriment to the public, the applicant will need to explain the hardship 

related to the size of the flag. This decision could also set a precedent that would affect the enforcement 

of flag size in the county.  

- 34 -



- 35 -



- 36 -



- 37 -



- 38 -



- 39 -



- 40 -



- 41 -



- 42 -



- 43 -



- 44 -



 

1 

 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT 

RE:  DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON SPRINGS 
 

 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT (“Contract”), made and entered into as of 

the ____ day of _________________, 2021 by and between JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA, a 

political subdivision of the State of Georgia, MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political 

subdivision of the State of Georgia, NEWTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of 

the State of Georgia, WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of 

Georgia (collectively the “Counties”), and the JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER COUNTY, MORGAN COUNTY, NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON COUNTY, a 

public body corporate and politic of the State of Georgia (the “Authority”).   

 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I(a) of the Georgia Constitution authorizes, 

among other things, any county, municipality, or other political subdivision of the State to contract 

for a period not exceeding fifty years, with any other public agency, public corporation, or public 

authority for joint services, for the provision of services, or for the provision or separate use of 

facilities or equipment, provided that such contract deals with activities, services or facilities which 

the contracting parties are authorized by law to undertake or provide; and 

WHEREAS, on October 18, 2000, the Authority acquired an approximately 1,528-acre 

site which has been expanded to now total approximately 1,635 acres (the “Property”), which site 

is located in Morgan, Newton, and Walton Counties, in order to proceed with the development of 

a research park known as Stanton Springs; and 

WHEREAS, On September 20, 2016, the Authority and the Counties entered an 

Intergovernmental Contract regarding Revenue Sharing in Stanton Springs (“Revenue Sharing 

Agreement”) which, among other things, specified in Paragraph 12 that a single jurisdiction, 

initially Walton County, would handle inspections and building permitting for the entirety of 

Stanton Springs; and 

WHEREAS, the Revenue Sharing Agreement superseded and replaced a 2004 Contract 

between the Counites and Authority which, among other things, specified that Walton County 

would be the single jurisdiction to handle inspections and building permitting for Stanton Springs; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Revenue Sharing Agreement states that the jurisdiction responsible for 

permitting and inspections may be changed by resolution of the Authority; and  

WHEREAS, commencing in 2012, Walton County provided permitting and inspection 

services for the Baxter, now Takeda, facility which is located solely in Walton County; and  

WHEREAS, commencing in 2018, Newton County provided permitting and inspection 

services for the Morning Hornet, LLC project which is located solely in Newton County; and  

- 45 -



 

2 

 

WHEREAS, the Authority’s remaining land is situated such that future projects may be 

partially located in Morgan County, Walton County and Newton County; and 

WHEREAS, the Counties and Authority desire to establish a process for designating 

development services responsibilities for current and future projects. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and undertakings as 

hereinafter set forth and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the Authority and Counties HEREBY AGREE as follows: 

1. 

The preamble and recitals above make up a part of the terms, conditions and provisions 

of this Contract. 

2. 

This Contract shall become effective upon execution by all parties and shall continue in 

effect for fifty (50) years.   

3. 

Definitions 

a. Assisting County:  Each County providing Development Assistance Services per the terms 

of this Contract. 

b. BioScience Training Facility: The BioScience Training Facility, owned by the State of 

Georgia, is located on approximately 6-acres within Stanton Springs in Newton County 

and was constructed in 2013.  This project was permitted by Newton County.   

c. Development Regulations:  Development Regulations shall include the local ordinances 

that apply to the process of development and construction of a project, including ordinances 

governing: building, environmental controls, erosion and sedimentation, fire protection, 

flood damage control, water resource management, and zoning.  Development Regulations 

shall also include any standard codes and state requirements incorporated by reference into 

such local ordinances.  Each County has its own Development Regulations. 

d. Development Assistance Services: Development Assistance Services are those services 

each County shall provide to a Permitting County in connection with the Permitting 

County’s delivery of Development Services.  Development Assistance Services shall 

consist of: 

i. In connection with any proposed development agreement in which some terms 

exceed the authority of the Permitting County and require approval of other 

jurisdictions, participating in the negotiation of, and (if the terms are acceptable) 

entering into or consenting to such development agreements.  By way of example 

and not limitation, such terms would include the waiver of impact fees imposed by 

an Assisting County, and commitments to “freeze” in place the requirements of 

Development Regulations adopted by an Assisting County. 

- 46 -



 

3 

 

ii. Enforcement of Development Regulations within the Assisting County’s 

jurisdiction where the extra-jurisdictional enforcement powers of the Permitting 

Jurisdiction are in question or when formal disciplinary action is recommended by 

the Permitting County.  The discretion to enforce in such instances shall rest solely 

with the Assisting County having jurisdiction. 

iii. Serving as the “local issuing authority” for purposes of enforcing soil erosion and 

control ordinances, to the extent this role cannot be delegated to the Permitting 

County or permission for such delegation is denied by the State of Georgia.  Provide 

a letter to the Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission (GSWCC) 

authorizing the Permitting County to submit the project to the GSWCC. 

iv. Resolution of all discretionary/legislative decisions associated with application of 

the Development Regulations within the Assisting County’s jurisdiction.  By way 

of example and not limitation, such discretionary/legislative decisions would 

include issuance of final land plats and decisions on developer requests for 

variances to Development Regulations as they are applied to property within the 

jurisdiction of the Assisting County. 

v. Resolution of appeals of the regulatory decisions of the Permitting County’s staff 

as they are applied to property within the jurisdiction of the Assisting County. 

vi. Preparation and submission of applications for Developments of Regional Impact 

(if the Assisting County has the largest share of land). 

e. Development Services:  Development Services shall include: 

i. Issuance of permits required by the Development Regulations to develop a project, 

including but not limited to: land disturbance, clearing, grading, utility installation, 

and building permits.   

ii. All levels of plan review and approval including but not limited to preliminary plat 

approval. 

iii. Site inspections associated with permitting and permit compliance. 

iv. Enforcement of approved plan requirements and Development Regulation 

requirements where enforcement jurisdiction exists.  Coordination with Assisting 

Counties for enforcement in all other situations. 

v. Assessment and collection of permitting and other customary fees.  

vi. Preparation and submission of applications for Developments of Regional Impact 

(if the Permitting County has the largest share of land). 

vii. Primary negotiation of one or more development agreements with companies 

locating on the Property.    

viii. Application and enforcement of Development Regulations. 

f. Future Projects:  Future Projects include any development or projects within Stanton 

Springs or on other Authority-controlled property occurring after the date of this Contract 

but specifically excluding expansions associated with the Takeda Project, Morning Hornet 

Project, and BioScience Training Facility.   

g. Morning Hornet Project:  The Morning Hornet Project is in Stanton Springs and includes 

the construction of  a data center on the 416-acre parcel currently leased by Morning 

Hornet, LLC in Newton County and any expansions thereof.     

- 47 -



 

4 

 

h. Permitting County:  The County providing Development Services per the terms of this 

Contract. 

i. Property:  The Property is all 1,635 acres currently located in the development park known 

as Stanton Springs, any land added to Stanton Springs in the future, and any land otherwise 

controlled by the Authority.   

j. Shire Parkway:  Shire Parkway is the four-lane divided road which runs from Hwy 278 

through Stanton Springs.  It was permitted by Walton County in part and Newton County 

in part.   

k. Stanton Springs:  Stanton Springs is the name of the research development park that 

encompasses approximately 1,635 acres in Morgan, Newton and Walton Counties. 

l. Takeda Project:  The Takeda Project is a pharmaceutical manufacturing facility in Stanton 

Springs located on the approximately 161-acre parcel currently leased by Takeda (formerly 

known as Baxter, Baxalta then Shire).  This parcel includes land located in both Walton 

and Newton Counties.  It was permitted by Walton County. 

4. 

Takeda Project 

Walton County shall be the Permitting County for the Takeda Project including all future 

expansions of the same including expansions by Takeda which are located on the Takeda 

property within Newton County. 

5. 

Morning Hornet Project, BioScience Training Facility, Shire Parkway 

Newton County shall be the Permitting County for the Morning Hornet Project, BioScience 

Training Facility, and Shire Parkway including all future expansions of these projects within 

the Property. 

6. 

Future Projects on the Property 

The Authority, in its sole discretion and without any further intergovernmental agreement 

required, may request in writing that either Newton, Walton or Morgan County provide 

Development Services on a project-by-project basis on the Property for Future Projects.  The 

County upon which the request is made shall, in its sole discretion, either accept or deny the 

request in writing within ten (10) days of the Authority’s request and notify the other parties.   

7. 

Role of Permitting County and Assisting Counties 

 

a. Where a Permitting County has assumed the role of providing Development Services 

outside its jurisdiction, the other Counties shall be Assisting Counties to the extent the 

project reaches into their respective jurisdictions.  Assisting Counties shall not charge, and 

- 48 -



 

5 

 

hereby waive the right to charge, their standard fees associated with the Development 

Services provided by the Permitting County. 

   

b. No earlier than when a project (or portion of a project) is issued a certificate of occupancy, 

and with written consent of the owner of the project, the Permitting County may, with 

notice to the Assisting Counties, cease to assume the role of Permitting County as to those 

portions of project that are outside the Permitting County’s jurisdiction.  In such event, 

regulatory/permitting responsibility shall fully revert to the local jurisdiction where the 

project (or portion) is situated; provided that any permits or certificates already issued by 

the Permitting County for areas outside its jurisdiction shall continue in force and effect as 

though they were issued by the local jurisdiction. 

 

c. To the extent permitted by law, each County hereby waives against the Permitting County, 

as well as its officers, employees and agents, (“Released Parties”), any claim for harm, 

costs, or damages arising out of the performance or non-performance of Development 

Services by the Permitting County.   

8. 

Economic Development Incentives  

a. The Authority may request that the Permitting County reduce or waive permitting fees as 

a part of an economic development incentive package for a new project or an existing 

project expansion, or to assist the Authority with its own projects.  Whether such a request 

is granted is within the sole discretion of the Permitting County.   

 

b. The Authority may also request that the Permitting County and the other Counties provide 

other types of fee waivers (e.g. waiver of impact fees) as a part of an economic development 

incentive package for a new project or an existing project expansion or to assist the 

Authority with its own projects.  Whether such a request is granted is within the sole 

discretion of the applicable Counties.   

9. 

Expenses 

Prior to initiating Development Services for a Future Project or expansion of an existing 

project, a Permitting County may request the Authority assist with payment of its actual out-

of-pocket expenses associated with providing Development Services not otherwise paid by the 

company funding the Future Project or expansion.  The Authority, in its sole discretion, may 

provide financial assistance. 

- 49 -



 

6 

 

10. 

Authority to Apply Development Regulations 

a. To the extent permitted by law,  in all cases where a Permitting County applies and enforces 

Development Regulations outside its own jurisdiction, each Assisting County hereby 

delegates to the Permitting County the authority to: apply and enforce the Assisting 

County’s Development Regulations; collect the Permitting County’s standard fees for such 

application/enforcement (and/or waive such fees via development agreement); issue 

permits under such Development Regulations (which permits may be in the Permitting 

County’s name where not prohibited by law); waive or extend deadlines to the extent 

permitted by the Development Regulations; authorize amendments to the project site 

plan(s) subject to the Development Regulations; and otherwise serve as the Assisting 

County’s development services department (or comparable subunit) with respect to the 

applicable project.  Such delegation shall not include those powers that should be reserved 

to the Assisting County to provide its Development Assistance Services.  Permits and 

similar authorizations issued by a Permitting County in conformance with this Contract 

shall be honored by each Assisting County as if they were issued by the Assisting County, 

and upon the request of any party or permittee such permits or authorizations shall be 

reissued in the name of the Assisting County without the requirement to pay any additional 

fees. 

 

b. With respect to soil erosion and sedimentation control ordinances of the Counties, the 

delegation in subsection (a) above shall, to the extent permitted by law, include the naming 

of the Permitting County as a “local issuing authority” authorized to enforce the Assisting 

County’s soil erosion and sedimentation control ordinances.  The Permitting County and 

Assisting County shall cooperate in good faith to seek State of Georgia approval of erosion 

and sedimentation plans for such delegation of authority in accordance with O.C.G.A § 12-

7-8. 

11. 

Development of Regional Impact  

To the extent permitted by law, the Permitting County shall file and process the application for 

a Development of Regional Impact (“DRI”) with the appropriate Regional Development 

Commission (“RDC”).  If the Permitting County is not authorized to process the DRI 

application as determined by the RDC, the Permitting County shall assist the County 

designated by the RDC to file the DRI application.   

- 50 -



 

7 

 

12. 

Future Joinder by Municipalities 

If property owned or controlled by the Authority is within the permitting jurisdiction of a 

municipality, said municipality may join as a party to this Contract and accept all terms 

specified herein upon a written request to the municipality by the Authority to do so, followed 

by the adoption of a resolution of the municipality adopting this Contract and including it as 

an exhibit thereto.  If a municipality so joins, the term “County” herein shall become 

interchangeable with the term “City” such that the new municipality may participate as either 

a “Permitting County” or “Assisting County” as appropriate based on the location of each 

project.   

13. 

General 

a. Should any clause, sentence or paragraph herein contained be held invalid or 

unconstitutional, it shall in nowise affect the remaining provisions of this Contract, which 

shall otherwise remain in full force and effect.  In addition, rather than striking the invalid 

or unconstitutional clause, it is the parties’ intent to reform the clause to make it legal and 

enforcement, to the greatest extent permitted by law. 

 

b. This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original 

but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.   

 

c. This Contract shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Georgia.   

 

d. This Contract may be amended by written agreement between the parties.    

 

14. 

Notices 

All notices, correspondence, payments and other communications required under this Contract 

shall be delivered to: 

For the Authority: 

Chairman 

300 E Church Street 

Monroe, GA 30655 

With a copy to: 

Andrea P. Gray, Attorney at Law 

P.O. Box 826 

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

 

- 51 -



 

8 

 

For Jasper County: 

Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

Attn: Chair, Board of Commissioners 

126 W. Green Street 

Suite 18 

Monticello, GA 31064 

With a copy to: 

David Ozburn 

1108 Monticello Street 

Covington, GA 30014 

 

For Morgan County: 

Morgan County 

Attn:  County Manager 

150 East Washington Street 

Suite 100 

Madison, GA  30650 

With a copy to: 

Christian G. Henry 

Hall Booth Smith, P.C. 

440 College Ave., Suite 120 

Athens, Georgia 30601 

 

 

For Newton County: 

Chairman of the Newton County Board of Commissioners 

1124 Clark Street 

Covington, GA 30014 

With a copy to: 

Megan Martin 

County Attorney 

Jarrard & Davis, LLP 

222 Webb Street 

Cumming, GA 30040 

 

 

For Walton County: 

Chairman of the Walton County Board of Commissioners  

111 S Broad Street 

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

With a copy to: 

Charles Ferguson 

County Attorney  

118 Court Street  

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

 

- 52 -



 

9 

 

 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties, action by and through their duly authorized officers, 

have caused this Contract to be executed in multiple counterparts under seals as of the day and 

year first above written.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

- 53 -



 

10 

 

[Execution Page for INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT Re: DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON 

SPRINGS, made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________________, 2021, by and between Jasper County, 

Morgan County, Newton County, Walton County, and the Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, 

and Walton Counties] 

 

 

 

 

      JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

 

      By: ______________________________ 

       Chairman, Board of Commissioners 

       of Jasper County 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________  

Clerk, Board of Commissioners 

of Jasper County 

- 54 -



 

11 

 

[Execution Page for INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT Re: DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON 

SPRINGS, made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________________, 2021, by and between Jasper County, 

Morgan County, Newton County, Walton County, and the Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, 

and Walton Counties] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

 

      By: ______________________________ 

       Chairman, Board of Commissioners 

       of Morgan County 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________  

Clerk, Board of Commissioners 

of Morgan County 

- 55 -



 

12 

 

[Execution Page for INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT Re: DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON 

SPRINGS, made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________________, 2021, by and between Jasper County, 

Morgan County, Newton County, Walton County, and the Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, 

and Walton Counties] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      NEWTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

 

      By: ______________________________ 

       Chairman, Board of Commissioners 

       of Newton County 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________  

Clerk, Board of Commissioners 

of Newton County 

- 56 -



 

13 

 

[Execution Page for INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT Re: DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON 

SPRINGS, made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________________, 2021, by and between Jasper County, 

Morgan County, Newton County, Walton County, and the Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, 

and Walton Counties] 

 

 

 

 

 

      WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

 

 

      By: ______________________________ 

       Chairman, Board of Commissioners 

       of Walton County 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________  

Clerk, Board of Commissioners 

of Walton County 

  

- 57 -



 

14 

 

[Execution Page for INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT Re: DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FOR STANTON 

SPRINGS, made and entered into as of the ___ day of _________________, 2021, by and between Jasper County, 

Morgan County, Newton County, Walton County, and the Joint Development Authority of Jasper, Morgan, Newton, 

and Walton Counties] 

 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER COUNTY, 

MORGAN COUNTY, NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON 

COUNTY 

 

 

 

     By: ______________________________ 

      Chairman 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________  

Secretary 

 

- 58 -



- 59 -



66568066v.11 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (as the same may be amended, restated, assigned in 

accordance with the terms herein, this “Agreement”) is made and effective as of the ___ day of 

_____________, 2021 (the “Effective Date”) by and between NEWTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, a 

political subdivision of the State (herein defined) acting by and through its governing authority, the Newton 

County Board of Commissioners (“Newton County” or the “County”) and BAYMARE LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company (together with its successors and assigns, the “Company”).  Newton County and 

the Company are referred to herein collectively, as the “Parties” and each individually, as a “Party”. 

RECITALS 

A. WHEREAS, the Company has the right to acquire and maintain an interest in certain 

undeveloped parcels of land located within the mixed-use master planned community known as Stanton 

Springs, such parcels comprising approximately 628.54 acres of land in the aggregate, located in the State 

and more specifically in Morgan, Newton and Walton Counties and described on Exhibit A attached hereto 

(the “Property”); and 

B. WHEREAS, the Company proposes to complete the Project (defined in Section 1.9 

below), and the success of the Project depends upon the long-term commitment of substantial resources of 

the Company and the careful integration of public capital facilities, planning, financing, and construction 

schedules; and 

C. WHEREAS, the Company wishes to enter into this Agreement to obtain assurances and 

agreements from the Project Counties, before making a determination to risk substantial Company 

resources; and 

D. WHEREAS, the Parties anticipate that the development of the Project will create jobs and 

otherwise stimulate economic growth in the Project Counties (herein defined) and the region, and after 

careful review and deliberation, the Project Counties have determined that it is in their best interest to enter 

into this Agreement to provide certain benefits to the Company and the Project to induce the Company to 

develop the Project on the Property; and 

E. WHEREAS, prior to the Effective Date, the Project Counties, Jasper County and the JDA 

(defined below) entered into that certain Intergovernmental Contract re: Development Services for Stanton 

Springs (the “Development IGA”) wherein Walton County, Morgan County and Jasper County designated 

Newton County as being responsible for all permitting, inspections and “Development Services” (as therein 

defined) for the Project; and  

F. WHEREAS, Newton County, with the agreement of the other Project Counties, wishes to 

offer to the Company and the Project certain benefits that include: (i) those inducements more particularly 

described in Article 4 below; (ii) confirmation of the validity of certain prior permits, approvals and 

entitlements for the Project previously granted by Newton County, as more particularly specified in 

Schedule 1.16 attached hereto; (iii) confirmation that the development standards applicable to the Project 

in existence on the Effective Date will remain unchanged during the Term (defined below); and (iv) 

confirmation of Newton County’s commitment to facilitate and assist the Company in developing the 

Project, as more particularly indicated in Article 5 below; and 

G. WHEREAS, Newton County has published notice of a public meeting at which this 

Agreement was considered as required by State law and has otherwise completed all steps, conditions and 

requirements necessary for the Board of Commissioners to consider and adopt this Agreement as permitted 

by law; and 

- 60 -



2 
 

66568066v.11 

H. WHEREAS, Morgan and Walton Counties have each completed all steps, conditions and 

requirements necessary for their respective Boards of Commissioners to consider and adopt this Agreement 

as permitted by law; and 

I. WHEREAS, Newton County finds that the Project is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and each of the Project Counties find that the Project is consistent with the Zoning Ordinance and 

Development Regulations, and the Property is currently zoned for the Project; and 

J. WHEREAS, the Project Counties find that this Agreement complies with applicable 

building, housing, electrical, plumbing, gas codes and other Applicable Rules (defined below) now in effect 

and applicable to the Project. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual promises and covenants herein 

contained, including the recitals which are incorporated herein by reference, which are relied upon by the 

parties, and which constitute part and parcel of this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration 

the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1. 
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings, except as 

otherwise expressly provided or as the context may otherwise require: 

1.1  “Agreement” means this Development Agreement, including all exhibits and schedules 

attached hereto and made a part hereof, as from time to time amended. 

1.2 “Applicable Rules” means all of the rules, regulations, ordinances and official policies of 

Morgan County, Newton County, and Walton County, individually and collectively, as are in force and 

effect on the Effective Date, including but not limited to the Code and the restrictions in the Project 

Approvals. 

1.3 “Boards of Commissioners” means the Board of Commissioners of Morgan County, 

Newton County, and Walton County, individually and collectively, which is the legislative body of each 

county. 

1.4 “Bonds” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10. 

1.5 “Business Day” means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State. 

In the event that the date for the performance of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement shall fall 

on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday under the laws of the State, the date for performance thereof shall 

be extended to the next Business Day. 

1.6 “Code” means the Morgan County, Georgia Code of Ordinances, the Newton County, 

Georgia Code of Ordinances, and the Walton County, Georgia Code of Ordinances, each as amended. 

1.7 “Comprehensive Plan” means the Newton County plan designed to guide the growth and 

development of the community, which presents a vision for the future, with long-range goals and objectives 

for all activities that affect Newton County. 

1.8 “Confidential Business Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2. 

- 61 -



3 
 

66568066v.11 

1.9  “Data Center” means real and personal property consisting of and including, but not 

limited to, equipment, buildings and structures specifically designed or modified to house networked 

computers and data and transaction processing equipment and related infrastructure support equipment, 

including, without limitation, power and cooling equipment, used primarily to provide, as a service to 

persons other than the company operating the data center, data and transaction processing services, 

outsource information technology services and computer, equipment colocation services, or, used primarily 

to provide, to a single user, including the user’s affiliates, customers, lessees, vendors and other persons 

authorized by the user, data and transaction processing services. 

1.10 “Development Regulations” means the 2003 Development Regulations, Newton County, 

Georgia, adopted March 4, 2003, amended through May 19, 2020 and which are effective as of the Effective 

Date and any and all similar regulations and/or local ordinances that apply to the process of the development 

and construction of the Project in Morgan and Walton Counties, as applicable. 

1.11 “Discretionary Action” means an action which requires the exercise of judgment, 

deliberation, or a decision on the part of a Project County, including any board, commission, or department 

or any officer or employee thereof, in the process of approving or disapproving a particular activity, as 

distinguished from an activity which merely requires a determination regarding compliance with statutes, 

ordinances, or regulations.  Specifically included in the definition of “Discretionary Action” is the approval 

of final land plats. 

1.12  “Liaison” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4. 

1.13 “LDP” means land disturbance permit. 

1.14 “Ministerial Action” means an action which requires a determination regarding 

compliance with statutes, ordinances or regulations, such as the permits, approvals, plans, inspections, 

certificates, documents, licenses, and all other actions taken or considered by Newton County at the request 

of the Company to facilitate or as required to implement, develop and construct the Project, including 

without limitation, building permits, foundation permits, public works permits, grading permits, stockpile 

permits, encroachment permits, and other similar permits and approvals which are required by the 

Applicable Rules to implement the Project.  A Ministerial Action shall not include any Discretionary Action 

as defined herein. 

1.15 “Project” means the development and operation of a Data Center on the Property in the 

location shown on the Site Plan (as defined in Section 1.19) to be developed.  The Project, if constructed, 

will consist of one or more buildings, and may include additional ancillary buildings and infrastructure 

improvements (for example but without limitation, paved parking and driveways, landscaping, security 

installations, utilities, alternative water and energy sources and other Project-related structures and 

improvements), any and all of which may be developed in phases over time, each with such components at 

such time and in such manner as the Company shall determine in its sole discretion. 

1.16 “Project Approvals” means those Discretionary Actions that authorize the Project and 

that have been granted and approved.  Schedule 1.16 sets forth the Project Approvals that have been granted 

as of the Effective Date. 

1.17 “Project Counties” means Newton, Walton and Morgan Counties. 

1.18 “Revenue Sharing Agreement” means that certain Revenue Sharing Agreement for 

Stanton Springs entered into on September 20, 2016 by and among Newton, Walton, Morgan, and Jasper 

Counties. 

- 62 -



4 
 

66568066v.11 

1.19 “Site Plan” means a depiction of certain aspects of Company’s development of the Project 

that will be created by the Company or a consultant of the Company and provided by the Company or on 

the Company’s behalf in connection with the development permitting process. The Site Plan shall be the 

version of such depiction that is accepted by Newton County in connection with the issuance of its Land 

Disturbance Permit (LDP), which version shall be accepted if consistent with the Applicable Rules. 

1.20 “State” means the State of Georgia. 

1.21 “Term” means the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the earlier of 

(A) December 31, 2046  (the “Expiration Date”) and (B) such date as this Agreement may be terminated 

in accordance with its terms, or by written notice from the Company.  Unless terminated under Subsection 

(B) in this Section 1.21, the Term shall automatically renew for successive periods of two (2) years each 

unless terminated by written notice of the Company or Newton County.  The Expiration Date shall be 

automatically extended for a period of time equal to the duration of any delay in the Company’s efforts to 

develop or construct the Data Center (or any phase thereof) or to operate the Data Center (or any phase 

thereof) in its ordinary course of business, where such delay results from enactments, moratoria, legal 

actions, or appeals that enjoin performance under this Agreement, from actions to stay performance under 

this Agreement, or from any litigation related to the Project Approvals, this Agreement, or the Property; 

provided that the Company shall notify Newton County within sixty (60) days after becoming aware of the 

condition which caused such delay and Newton County shall in turn notify the other Project Counties. 

1.22 “Zoning Ordinance” means collectively, that certain Zoning Ordinance, which for (i) 

Newton County, Georgia, is dated February 17, 2009, with amendments through May 19, 2020, which is 

effective as of the Effective Date; (ii) Morgan County, Georgia, is dated in March of 2005, with 

amendments through October of 2020, which is effective as of the Effective Date; and (iii) Walton County, 

Georgia, is dated May 3, 2016, with amendments through September 1, 2020, which is effective as of the 

Effective Date. 

ARTICLE 2. 
COUNTY PROCEDURES AND ACTIONS 

2.1 Boards of Commissioners Approval.  The Boards of Commissioners represent that each 

has, after conducting a duly-noticed public meeting, approved this Agreement, the approval of which is 

consistent with the Applicable Rules, and authorized the execution of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 3. 
PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT 

3.1 Consideration.  Upon the execution of this Agreement, the Company shall pay to Newton 

County Ten Dollars ($10.00) as consideration and inducement to Newton County to enter into this 

Agreement and for the other Project Counties to agree to the applicable terms of this Agreement, which 

amount shall be non-refundable to the Company, and which amount Newton County shall share equally 

with the other Project Counties.  The Project Counties believe that the Project will provide economic 

benefits to the Project Counties by creating jobs and stimulating economic growth in the region.  The 

purpose of this Agreement to induce the Company to develop the Project by providing certain benefits to 

the Company and the Project.  The Parties agree that the Company would not develop the Project without 

such confirmation from the Project Counties and that the Company is reasonably and in good faith relying 

on the promises herein to independently evaluate the economic feasibility and commercial reasonability of 

developing, completing and operating the Project. 

3.2 Development of the Project.  The Project may be developed in phases.  The Parties 

acknowledge that as of the Effective Date, the Company cannot predict if, when or at what rate development 

- 63 -



5 
 

66568066v.11 

of the Project will occur.  The timing and rate for development of the Property will depend upon numerous 

factors outside of the control of the Company, such as market orientation and demand, competition, 

availability of qualified laborers to construct, and/or weather conditions.  The Company may develop the 

Project in such order and at such rate and times as the Company deems appropriate within the exercise of 

its sole and absolute discretion, subject to the Project Approvals and the Applicable Rules.  Newton County 

acknowledges that this right is consistent with the intent, purpose, and understanding of the Parties.  Nothing 

in this Agreement shall be construed to require the Company to proceed with developing the Project or any 

portion thereof. 

3.3 No Required Improvements.  The Company is not required to make any on-site or off-

site improvements or perform any work under this Agreement or as a condition of any rights of the 

Company hereunder. 

3.4 Scope of Development Agreement.  Any work or improvements on the Property outside 

the scope of the Project shall not be subject to this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 4. 
FEES AND TAXES 

4.1 County Waiver of Fees.  Newton County agrees that all connection, permitting, plan 

inspection and other fees otherwise charged by Newton County in connection with land use approvals, 

subdivisions, the issuance of land disturbance and building permits or certificates of occupancy, and any 

other fee charged or otherwise assessed by Newton County in connection with development activity, shall 

be waived in their entirety and that the Company shall not be charged any permitting fee, including, without 

limitation those identified in Section 4.1.1 below, or inspection fees, assessment, or other charge by Newton 

County in connection with the initial development or occupancy of the Project by the Company, including 

any future improvements within the scope of the Project as a part of new construction; provided, however, 

the foregoing covenant shall exclude: future remodeling and reconfiguration of the Project which is 

inconsistent with the Site Plan; impact fees (described in Section 4.2 below); and only the review fees that 

are identified on Schedule 4.1 attached hereto. 

4.1.1 The waived permitting fees referenced above include the following fees:  (i) the 

consolidation plat and any other platting-related fees; (ii) LDP; (iii) building permit; (iv) electrical 

permit; (v) plumbing permit; (vi) gas permit; (vii) HVAC permit; (viii) construction trailer; and 

(ix) certificate of occupancy. 

4.2 Impact Fees.  Under the Newton County Development Impact Fee Ordinance, Newton 

County may grant case-by-case exemptions from impact fee assessments for projects providing 

extraordinary economic benefits as assessed under the Newton County Impact Fee Exemption Standards.  

To the extent, if any, that the Newton County Development Impact Fee Ordinance would impose impact 

fees upon the Project, in conformance with O.C.G.A. § 36-71-4(1) and Section 8 of the Development Impact 

Fee Ordinance, Newton County hereby finds that construction and operation of the proposed Project is 

worthy of a full exemption from impact fees, and represents that Newton County is willing to fund through 

revenue sources other than impact fees the improvements otherwise foregone through exemption of any 

impact fee on the Newton County portion of the Project (but not portions of the project in the other Project 

Counties).  Accordingly, in recognition of the findings above, Newton County will approve any properly-

submitted application(s) for impact fee exemption for those portions of the Project that lie within Newton 

County. To the extent, if any, that the other Project Counties have impact fee ordinances that would impose 

impact fees upon the Project, the other Project Counties agree to similarly adopt the commitments above in 

this Section 4.2, and will approve any properly-submitted application(s) for impact fee exemption for those 

portions of the Project that lie within their respective jurisdictions. 

- 64 -



6 
 

66568066v.11 

4.3 Special Taxes and Assessments.  If the Company requests the formation of any special 

tax and assessment districts in connection with the Project, the Project Counties agree to cooperate fully in 

their formation to the extent allowable under the Code and applicable statutes.  Nothing in this Section 4.3 

shall amend the Revenue Sharing Agreement, and nothing in the Revenue Sharing Agreement will be 

deemed to amend this Agreement. 

4.4 Additional Taxes.  Newton County agrees that it shall not impose, unless required by state 

or federal law, any new taxes, assessments, levies, charges and/or similar fees with respect to the Project 

within Newton County during the Term hereof, unless such additional taxes, assessments, levies, charges 

or fees would apply to all uses in the Stanton Springs project (within Newton County) and which are not 

intended to have a disparate impact on the Property or on Data Center uses, and do not disproportionately 

burden the Property or the Data Center.  The other Project Counties similarly agree to the commitments 

above with respect to those portions of the Project that lie within their respective jurisdictions. 

ARTICLE 5. 
ENTITLEMENTS 

5.1 Commitment to Development.  Newton County and the other Project Counties are 

committed to facilitate and assist the Company in developing the Project and in furtherance thereof, to the 

maximum extent permitted by applicable state or federal law, set forth certain specified entitlements in this 

Article 5.  The Project Counties’ intent in entering this Agreement is to vest all rights and entitlements 

stated in this Agreement in the Company.  Recognizing the Company’s reliance on this Agreement, Project 

Counties expressly agree that each shall not interpose any objection or defense to enforcement of this 

Agreement on grounds, if any exist, that any applicable state law limits or prohibits any of the entitlements 

set forth below or the covenants of the Project Counties herein. 

5.2 Entitlement to Develop.  Newton County certifies, and the other Project Counties concur, 

that, as of the date each executes this Agreement, subject to the Company’s compliance with the 

requirements of the Project Approvals, no Applicable Rule prohibits, prevents or encumbers the completion 

and occupancy of any or all phases of the Project in accordance with the proposed uses, densities, designs, 

heights, set back requirements, signage, and other development requirements and entitlements incorporated 

and agreed to herein and in the Project Approvals.  While nothing in the Applicable Rules prohibits 

development of the Project as proposed, the Company acknowledges that certain Applicable Rules by their 

nature must be applied during the development completion and occupancy phases. 

5.3 Vested Rights.  Newton County intends, and the other Project Counties concur, that every 

commitment made under this Agreement shall be a vested right in favor of the Company.  The Company 

has the vested right to develop the Project, subject only to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

the Applicable Rules.  The Project Counties acknowledges that the Company is relying in good faith on the 

vested rights created by this Agreement and has made and will make substantial changes in reliance on 

those rights.  The Company’s vested rights shall include, without limitation, the right to operate, maintain, 

remodel, renovate, rehabilitate, rebuild, or replace the Project or any portion thereof (including without 

limitation the right to replenish equipment used in operating the Project) throughout the Term for any 

reason, including, without limitation, in the event of damage, destruction, or obsolescence of the Project or 

any portion thereof, subject to the Applicable Rules and the Project Approvals.  To the extent that all or any 

portion of the Project is remodeled, renovated, rehabilitated, rebuilt, or replaced, the Company may locate 

that portion of the Project at any other location on the Property consistent with the parameters of the Site 

Plan and subject to the Applicable Rules and the Project Approvals, and review and approval by, Newton 

County’s Director of Development Services (to the extent such review and approval is provided in the 

Applicable Rules). Amendments consistent with the Applicable Rules may be made to the Site Plan if 

approved by the Director of the Newton County Planning Department, subject to any approval processes at 

the state/federal level to the extent required for the proposed amendments.   

- 65 -



7 
 

66568066v.11 

5.4 Changes in Applicable Rules.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, no addition to, 

or modification of, the Applicable Rules including, without limitation, changes in the Comprehensive Plan 

or any zoning or building regulation, adopted or effective after the Effective Date, shall be applied to the 

Project.  The Project Counties specifically agree that in no event shall any height restriction applicable to 

the Property or any buildings thereon, including any building that may be constructed in the future, be 

decreased to fewer than seventy-five (75) feet with respect to any structure constructed at the Project or 

modified from time to time.  Newton County shall designate a specific individual within Newton County’s 

Development Services Department (the “Liaison”), who shall, at no additional cost to the Company, 

communicate regularly with the Company upon request and provide the Company with as much prior 

written notice as is possible under the circumstances of any proposed addition to or modification of the 

Applicable Rules that may affect the Property.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may, in its 

sole discretion, give Newton County written notice of its election to have any subsequent change in the 

Applicable Rules, not otherwise applicable to the Property, applied to all or any portion of the Property, in 

which case, such subsequent change shall be deemed to be incorporated within the Applicable Rules with 

respect to such portion of the Property.  In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Agreement 

and the Applicable Rules, the provisions of this Agreement shall control to the extent legally permissible.  

The Project shall be subject to all applicable state and federal laws. 

5.5 Additional Permits. 

5.5.1 The permits and/or approvals listed on Exhibit B are the only permits and/or 

approvals that (based on the submission provided by or on behalf of the Company) will be required 

from the Project Counties to complete the development of and to operate the Project, all other 

permits and/or approvals otherwise required by the Project Counties have already been granted or 

waived.  To the extent unanticipated permits or approvals are required, Newton County shall confer 

with the Company and work in good faith with the Company to issue any such permits and 

approvals as are reasonably required.  This paragraph does not apply to permits or approvals 

provided by state or federal governments. 

5.5.2 The Project Counties shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay any 

Ministerial or Discretionary Action requested by the Company with respect to the Project. 

5.5.3 Newton County acknowledges that the Company is exploring options to use 

alternative energy sources to operate all or any portion of the Project.  Such potential alternative 

energy sources include, without limitation, solar panels, geothermal cooling and wind energy.  

Newton County confirms that the foregoing alternative energy sources are permitted land uses on 

the Property.  The Project Counties consent to such uses as part of the Project, subject to compliance 

with the Applicable Rules and the Project Approvals. 

5.5.4 The Company may access groundwater, by drilling well(s) or otherwise, to 

establish an alternative and/or redundant water supply system for the Project and may collect and 

use rainwater to supplement the water supply system for the Project.  The Project Counties consent 

to all of the above, subject to the Applicable Rules, the Project Approvals, and requirements of 

state and federal law. 

5.6 Moratoria or Interim Control Ordinances.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, 

no ordinance, resolution, policy, or other measure enacted after the Effective Date that relates directly or 

indirectly to the development of the Project or to the rate, amount, timing, sequencing, or phasing of the 

development or construction of the Project shall apply to the Property or this Agreement.  This section shall 

specifically not apply to ordinances, resolutions, or policies required by state or federal law or those setting 

a Project County’s annual budget or fixing the uniform rate of taxation within a Project County. 

- 66 -



8 
 

66568066v.11 

5.7 Timeframes and Staffing for Processing and Review.  Newton County shall expedite 

processing of all Ministerial Approvals and the Project Counties shall expedite processing of all 

Discretionary Actions, if any, and any other approvals or actions requested by the Company or otherwise 

required to develop and operate the Project as contemplated herein.  Newton County shall process all 

Ministerial Approvals within ten (10) Business Days after it receives the application or formal request 

therefor, and each Project County shall process all approvals requiring a Discretionary Action within thirty 

(30) Business Days after it receives the application or formal request therefor, unless a different timeframe 

is required by state or federal law.  Except as expressly set forth in Schedule 4.1, Newton County hereby 

waives all filing, building permit and inspection fees that would otherwise be payable in respect of the 

design and construction of the Project. 

5.8 Other Governmental Approvals.  Newton County shall facilitate the Company obtaining 

any (i) approvals and permits from other governmental or quasi-governmental agencies having jurisdiction 

over the Property as may be necessary or desirable in connection with developing and/or operating the 

Project in the manner contemplated under this Agreement; and (ii) similar documents and instruments that 

may be required from third parties.  If Newton County action is required in connection with obtaining any 

such approvals and permits, Newton County shall, if possible, take final action within thirty (30) Business 

Days following its receipt of each complete application. 

5.9 Prohibition on County Support.  During the Term of this Agreement, and to the extent 

permitted by applicable law (including legal prohibitions on “contract zoning”), Newton County shall not 

support the following zoning designation(s): the R-1, R-2, R-3, M-2, MSR, DR, RMF, MHP and MHS 

designations for land located within one hundred (100) feet of the boundary line of the Property. The other 

Project Counties similarly agree to the commitments above with respect to corresponding zoning 

designations in their counties for those portions of the Project that lie within their respective jurisdictions. 

5.10 Rights and Permits Remain in Effect Notwithstanding Bond Challenge.  The rights 

vested in the Company pursuant to this Agreement, including the rights described in this Article 5, shall 

continue and shall not be affected by any challenge to the issuance or validation of any bonds which may 

be issued (or are proposed to be issued) in connection with the development of the Project (“Bonds”) or 

any delays in the construction of the Project as a consequence of such challenge, and Newton County agrees, 

to the extent requested by the Company, to renew or extend any permit or approval which may, on the face 

thereof, appear to expire or terminate prior to the date that the Project development and construction are 

complete.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any permit or approval relating to the Project 

shall continue in full force and effect, until the completion thereof in the event that any challenge to the 

issuance of the Bond delays the development and/or construction of the Project. The Project Counties agree 

not to challenge the validity of any Bond issuance. 

5.11 General Cooperation.  Newton County shall assist and cooperate in good faith with the 

Company in connection with the Company’s development, construction, operation, maintenance, repair, 

replacement, expansion and/or modification of the Project from time to time, including, potentially, the 

creation, coordination and implementation of a traffic control plan. The other Project Counties similarly 

agree to the commitments above in this Section 5.11 with respect to those portions of the Project that lie 

within their respective jurisdictions. 

5.12 Notification of Changes in Laws.  Prior to approving the effectiveness thereof, the Project 

Counties agree to provide public notice required by law for any changes in governmental regulations 

relating to the development of properties similar to the Property, including any parcels or property or 

properties in the vicinity of the Project. 

- 67 -



9 
 

66568066v.11 

ARTICLE 6. 
TERMINATION, DEFAULT AND REMEDY 

6.1 Termination. 

6.1.1 If the Company has not acquired an interest in the Property prior to the date which 

is three (3) years after the Effective Date, either party may terminate this Agreement by written 

notice to the other party prior to the acquisition by the Company of an interest in the Property. 

6.1.2 If the owner of the Property changes the use of the Property from a Data Center, 

Newton County and the Company shall meet and discuss to reasonably determine if modifications 

to this Agreement are required.   

6.1.3 The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time for convenience upon 

thirty (30) days’ written notice to Newton County, which shall then provide prompt notice to the 

other Project Counties. 

6.2 Company Events of Default.  An event of default by the Company shall be deemed to 

occur hereunder if there is a breach by the Company of any of its covenants or agreements contained herein, 

which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of such breach from Newton 

County; provided, however, such cure period shall be extended for a reasonable time if: a breach cannot 

reasonably be cured within such thirty (30)-day cure period, and the Company diligently pursues the cure 

to completion. 

6.3 County Events of Default.  An event of default by a Project County shall be deemed to 

occur hereunder if there is any breach by the Project County of any of its covenants or agreements contained 

herein, including without limitation the failure to accept an application, process, or render a decision on the 

Ministerial Actions and/or Discretionary Actions, which breach is not cured within ten (10) Business Days 

after receipt of written notice of such breach from the Company; provided, however, such cure period shall 

be extended for a reasonable time if a breach cannot reasonably be cured within such ten (10) Business Day 

cure period, and the subject Project County diligently pursues the cure to completion. 

6.4 Remedies.  If an event of default occurs the non-defaulting party may enforce this 

Agreement and seek damages or specific performance or both.  An event of default shall not entitle the non-

defaulting party to terminate this Agreement. 

6.5 Force Majeure.  The parties (including all Project Counties) shall not be liable for any 

failure to perform hereunder as a result of an external event or events beyond their respective control, 

including, without limitation, fire, flood, hurricanes, tornadoes, explosions, terrorism, acts of God or a 

public enemy, vandalism or civil riots.  However, if any such event interferes with the performance by a 

party hereunder, such party shall diligently and in good faith act to the extent within its power to remedy 

the circumstances affecting its performance or to complete performance in as timely a manner as is 

reasonably possible.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, water shortages, 

embargos, strikes, and labor disputes shall not constitute force majeure. 

ARTICLE 7. 
MORTGAGEE RIGHTS 

7.1 Encumbrances on the Property.  The Parties agree that this Agreement shall not prevent 

or limit the Company from encumbering its interest in the Property, or any estate or interest therein, portion 

thereof, or any improvement thereon, in any manner whatsoever by one or more security deeds, deeds to 

secure debt, mortgages, sale and leaseback, or other form of secured financing (“Mortgage”) with respect 

- 68 -



10 
 

66568066v.11 

to the construction, development, use or operation of the Project and parts thereof.  Newton County 

acknowledges that the lender(s) providing such Mortgages may require certain Agreement interpretations 

and modifications and agrees, upon request, from time to time, to meet with the Company and 

representatives of such lender(s) to negotiate in good faith any such request for interpretation or 

modification.  Newton County will not unreasonably withhold its consent to any such requested 

interpretation or modification, provided such interpretation or modification is consistent with the intent and 

purposes of this Agreement. 

7.2 Mortgagee Not Obligated.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.1, the holder of 

a Mortgage (a “Mortgagee”) shall not have any obligation or duty pursuant to the terms set forth in this 

Agreement to perform the obligations of the Company or other affirmative covenants of the Company 

hereunder, or to guarantee such performance. 

7.3 Mortgagee’s Notice and Cure Rights.  The Mortgagee of any Mortgage or deed of trust 

encumbering the Property, or any part or interest thereof, that has submitted a request in writing to Newton 

County in the manner specified herein for giving notices shall be entitled to receive written notification 

from Newton County of any notice of non-compliance by the Company in the performance of the 

Company’s obligations under this Agreement.  If Newton County receives a request from a Mortgagee 

requesting a copy of any notice of non-compliance given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement, 

Newton County shall provide a copy of that notice to the Mortgagee within ten (10) days of sending the 

notice of non-compliance to the Company.  The Mortgagee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 

cure the non-compliance for a period of one hundred twenty (120) days after the Mortgagee receives such 

written notice, notwithstanding the earlier lapse of any cure period in favor of the Owner. 

7.4 Disaffirmation.  If this Agreement is terminated as to any portion of the Property as a 

result of a bankruptcy proceeding of the Company, or if this Agreement is disaffirmed by a receiver, 

liquidator, or trustee for the Company or its property, the Project Counties, if requested by any Mortgagee, 

shall negotiate in good faith with such Mortgagee for a new development agreement for the Project as to 

such portion of the Property with the most senior Mortgagee requesting such new agreement.  This 

Agreement does not require any Mortgagee to enter into a new development agreement pursuant to this 

Section 7.4. 

ARTICLE 8. 
CONFIDENTIALITY 

8.1 Generally.  The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement shall become a public 

record under the Open Records Act of the State of Georgia (O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 et seq.), and that 

discussion regarding this Agreement shall take place before the Boards of Commissioners in open session.  

The Project Counties covenant that each will hold all Confidential Business Information, defined below, 

obtained by it, or any person employed by or representing each Project County, related to the Company’s 

business in strictest confidence and the Project County covenants not to disclose, divulge or otherwise 

communicate Confidential Business Information in any manner to any person or entity, other than to those 

parties necessary to perform under this Agreement or verify the Company’s compliance with this 

Agreement and the Applicable Rules, and except as necessary to comply with the Open Records Act (as 

discussed below). 

8.2 Confidential Business Information.  The Company may designate any trade secrets or 

confidential business information included in any report or other writing delivered to a Project County 

pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement by any method intended to clearly set apart the specific 

material that the Company claims to be either its trade secrets or confidential business information that, if 

released, would give an advantage to competitors and serve no significant public purpose (such information, 

collectively, “Confidential Business Information”).  If the Company elects to assert that certain 

- 69 -



11 
 

66568066v.11 

information is a “trade secret”, Company shall submit and attach to such records an affidavit affirmatively 

declaring that specific information in the records constitutes trade secrets pursuant to Article 27 of Chapter 

1 of Title 10 of the Georgia Code.  The Project Counties shall give prompt written notice to the Company 

of receipt of any request to inspect or for which it has received a request to provide copies of, public records 

relating to this Agreement or the Project that include records covered by the aforementioned affidavit of 

trade secret status.  The notice shall include a copy of the request.  The Project County shall give the 

Company two (2) Business Days from receipt of notice to respond to the request.  If no response is received 

from the Company during such period, the Project County will allow inspection or provide copies of the 

requested records, having first redacted or deleted from any records it makes available for inspection or of 

which it provides copies any material designated by the Company as a trade secret as described above, and 

the parties shall follow the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 50-18-72(a)(34) related thereto.  The Project County 

shall also provide the Company with a copy of the document and/or the redacted document furnished in 

response to the request.  Any action to enjoin the release of Confidential Business Information may be 

brought in the name of the Company or the Project County. 

8.3 Cooperation. In the event of any legal action instituted by a third party or other 

governmental entity or official challenging the validity of any provision of this Agreement, the parties 

(including all the Project Counties) hereby agree to affirmatively cooperate in defending said action.  The 

parties agree to cooperate to defend against any legal action seeking specific performance, declaratory relief 

or injunctive relief, to set court dates at the earliest practicable date(s) and not cause delay in the 

prosecution/defense of the action, provided such cooperation shall not require any party to waive any rights. 

8.4 Publicity.  Except as required by law, Project Counties shall not make any public 

announcement, whether oral or written, regarding the parties entering into this Agreement or the terms and 

conditions hereof, without the prior written consent from the Company as to both the substance and form 

of such announcement.  This prohibition shall not apply to statements made at meetings subject to the 

Georgia Open Meetings Act, statements made by individuals not authorized to speak on behalf of Project 

County governments, or records obtained under the Georgia Open Records Act.  Upon request of the 

Company, Project Counties shall take reasonable steps to correct or disavow any public announcement 

regarding this Agreement that is made by an individual incorrectly purporting to speak on behalf of the 

Project County governments. 

ARTICLE 9. 
THIRD PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

9.1 Assignment; Successors. 

9.1.1 The rights and duties of the Company under this Agreement may be assigned by 

contract or merger and without the consent of Newton County or any of the Project Counties.  Any 

assignment will relieve the Company from liability for the performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement arising prior to the date of such assignment to the extent such obligations are assumed 

by the assignee.  In addition, the Company, as transferor, shall be relieved from all further liability 

under this Agreement from and after the effective date of such assignment and the transferee shall 

thereafter be the “Company” for all purposes hereunder.  The foregoing transfer provisions shall 

not apply to any transfer or assignment for financing purposes, including any bond transaction. 

9.1.2 The Company will, not less than thirty (30) days after the effective date of any 

such assignment, notify Newton County of any such assignment and, upon Newton County’s 

request, furnish or cause to be furnished to Newton County a copy of the applicable assignment 

instrument. 

- 70 -



12 
 

66568066v.11 

9.1.3 The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon all future successors, 

developers, owners or users of the property during the Term of this Agreement. 

9.2 Estoppel Certificate.  At any time, and from time to time, the Company may deliver 

written notice to Newton County, requesting that Newton County certify in writing that (i) this Agreement 

is in full force and effect and a binding obligation of the Parties, (ii) this Agreement has not been amended, 

or if amended, the identity of each amendment, (iii) to the knowledge of Newton County, the Company is 

not then in breach of this Agreement, or if in breach, a description of each such breach, and (iv) any other 

factual matters reasonably requested by Company (an “Estoppel Certificate”).  The Chairman of the 

Newton County Board of Commissioners and Newton County Attorney shall be authorized to execute, on 

behalf of Newton County, any Estoppel Certificate requested by the Company that complies with this 

Section 9.2.  Newton County acknowledges that an Estoppel Certificate may be relied upon by transferees 

or successors in interest to the Company and by Mortgagees holding an interest in the Property. 

9.3 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  The only named “Parties” to this Agreement are Newton 

County and the Company but Morgan County and Walton County are participants in this Agreement and 

each respectively acknowledge and agree to the provisions hereof that are applicable to each.  There are no 

third-party beneficiaries under this Agreement, and except for assignees and successors-in-interests to either 

Party, Morgan County, and Walton County, this Agreement shall not be construed to benefit or be 

enforceable by any other person whatsoever. 

ARTICLE 10. 
NOTICES 

Whenever any notice is required or permitted under this agreement, it shall be in writing and shall 

be delivered personally, with acknowledgment of receipt being obtained by the delivering party, or by U.S. 

Certified mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight delivery service by a reliable company, such as 

Federal Express or United Parcel Service.  Until further notification by written notice in the manner required 

by this Article 10, notices to the parties shall be delivered as follows: 

To Newton County: Newton County, Georgia 

c/o Chairman 

Newton County Board of Commissioners 

1124 Clark Street 

Covington, Georgia 30014 

With a copy to: Newton County, Georgia 

c/o County Manager 

1113 Usher Street — Suite 203 

Covington, Georgia 30014 

To Morgan County:  Morgan County 

Attn:  County Manager 

150 East Washington Street 

Suite 100 

Madison, GA  30650 

 

With a copy to:    Christian G. Henry 

Hall Booth Smith, P.C. 

440 College Ave., Suite 120 

Athens, Georgia 30601 

 

- 71 -



13 
 

66568066v.11 

To Walton County:  Chairman of the Walton County Board of Commissioners  

111 S Broad Street 

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

 

With a copy to:   Charles Ferguson 

County Attorney  

118 Court Street  

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

 

To Company: Baymare LLC 

c/o Tamaron Houston 

Seyfarth Shaw LLP 

1075 Peachtree Street, NE 

Suite 2500 

Atlanta, Georgia 30309-3962 

If notice is given by U.S. Certified Mail, then the notice shall be deemed to have been given on the 2nd 

Business Day after the date the envelope containing the notice is deposited in the U.S. Mail, properly 

addressed to the party to whom it is directed, postage prepaid.  Notice made by personal delivery or 

overnight delivery shall be deemed given when received. 

ARTICLE 11. 
MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1 Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended from time to time upon written  consent 

of the Parties, and such amendments shall be effective as to Walton and Morgan Counties upon written 

agreement and acknowledgement of such counties.  To the extent required by state or federal law, 

amendments to this Agreement may require a public hearing. 

11.2 Waiver of Jury Trial.  To the extent permitted by law, the parties hereby waives any right 

to trial by jury of any claim, demand, action, or cause of action (i) arising under this Agreement, or (ii) in 

any way connected with or related or incidental to this Agreement or any of the transactions related hereto.  

To the extent permitted by law, parties agree and consent that any such claim, demand, action, or cause of 

action shall be decided by court trial without a jury and that any of them may file a copy of this Agreement 

with any court as evidence of such waiver. 

11.3 Waiver.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing 

and signed by a duly authorized representative of the party against whom enforcement of a waiver is sought 

and refers expressly to this Section 11.3.  No waiver of any right or remedy with respect to any occurrence 

or event shall be deemed a waiver of any right or remedy with respect to any other occurrence or event. 

11.4 Further Assurances.  All parties shall take all actions and do all things, and execute, with 

acknowledgment or affidavit if required, any and all documents and writings that may be necessary or 

proper to achieve the purposes and objectives of this Agreement. 

11.5 Relationship of the Parties.  It is understood and agreed by the parties hereto that the 

Company is an independent contractor and not an agent of the parties.  Further, the Project Counties and 

Company hereby renounce the existence of any form of joint venture or partnership between them and agree 

that nothing herein or in any document executed in connection herewith shall be construed as making 

Project Counties and the Company joint venturers or partners. 

- 72 -



14 
 

66568066v.11 

11.6 Severability.  If any provisions, conditions, or covenants of this Agreement, or the 

application thereof to any circumstances of any party, shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 

of this Agreement or the application of such provision, condition, or covenant to persons or circumstances 

other than those as to whom or which it is held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby and 

shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

11.7 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with all exhibits and schedules attached 

hereto, constitutes the parties’ entire agreement and understanding regarding the matters set forth herein.  

All prior or contemporaneous oral or written drafts of this Agreement or other understandings with respect 

to the subject matter herein between the parties are merged into this Agreement.  It is the parties’ intention 

to encourage, promote and aid the Project so that the opportunities and positive community impacts of the 

Project are fully realized by the Project Counties, their citizens and the Company. 

11.8 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 

which when so executed and delivered (by electronic means or otherwise) shall be deemed an original, and 

it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement to produce or account for more than one such 

fully executed counterpart. 

11.9 Choice of Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of the State. 

11.10 Neutral Interpretation; Headings.  The parties acknowledge that they have received 

independent legal advice from its attorneys with respect to the advisability of executing this Agreement and 

the meaning of the provisions hereof.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be construed as to their fair 

meaning, and not for or against any party based upon any attribution to such party as the source of the 

language in question.  The headings and table of contents used in this Agreement are for the convenience 

of reference only and shall not be used in construing this Agreement. 

11.11 Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute a Memorandum of Agreement 

in the form substantially similar to that attached as Exhibit C, to serve as notice to the public of the existence 

and provisions of this Agreement.  The Company shall have the right to record such Memorandum of 

Agreement in the real estate records of Newton, Morgan and Walton Counties, Georgia. 

11.12 Clarification of Public Benefit.  The Project Counties and the Company acknowledge that 

the commitments provided by the Project Counties in this Agreement are not “public benefits” for purposes 

of compliance with the Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act (O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1). 

11.13 Sovereign Immunity.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to be a 

waiver of any individual’s qualified, good faith or official immunities. 

11.14 No Personal Liability.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating any individual or 

personal liability on the part of any of Project Counties’ elected or appointed officials, officers, boards, 

commissions, employees, representatives, consultants, servants, agents, attorneys or volunteers, or the 

Company’s individual employees, officers, members, managers, directors.  No such individual shall be 

personally liable to a party or any successor in interest in the event of any default or breach by any party. 

11.15 Acknowledgement and Agreement. In addition to Newton County, the Property also lies 

within Walton and Morgan Counties, and as such, Walton County, Georgia and Morgan County, Georgia, 

pursuant to their respective signatures on the Acknowledgement and Agreement attached hereto, are bound 

by the terms of this Agreement.  In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Agreement and 

the Development IGA, the provisions of this Agreement shall control to the extent legally permissible. 

- 73 -



15 
 

66568066v.11 

11.16 Anti-Corruption; Compliance.  In connection with the negotiation and performance of 

this Agreement, Newton County represents and warrants that it has complied and covenants that it shall 

comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations including anti-corruption legislation and that it has 

used and shall use only legitimate and ethical business practices.  The transaction contemplated by this 

Agreement do not require the Company to submit a bid or otherwise participate in Newton County’s 

standard procurement process (if applicable), or undertake any other obligations of the procurement rules 

and regulations governing Newton County. 

11.17 E-mail or PDF Signatures; DocuSign.  Signatures to this Agreement transmitted by e-

mail or PDF shall be valid and effective to bind the party so signing. A copy of the electronic mail or PDF 

shall also be sent to the intended addressee by one of the means described in Section 10 above, in any case 

with all charges prepaid, addressed to the appropriate party at its address provided herein. Documents 

signed using DocuSign (other than the Memorandum of Development Agreement) shall constitute originals 

for all purposes hereunder. 

 [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; 

SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]  

- 74 -



16 
 

66568066v.11 

Newton County and the Company have caused this Agreement to be signed under seal, in their 

names and on their behalf by their duly authorized officers, all as of the Effective Date. 

NEWTON COUNTY: 

NEWTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

a political subdivision of 

the State of Georgia 

By:   Date:______________________ 

Name:  Marcello Banes 

Title:    Chairman, Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: [County Seal] 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

Approved as to form:  ________________________ 

County Attorney 

 

COMPANY: 

BAYMARE LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company    Date:______________________ 

By:______________________________[SEAL] 

Name:  

Title:  

ATTEST: 

By:  

Name:  

[ACKNOWLEDGEMENT PAGES FOLLOW]

- 75 -



66568066v.11 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT 

WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia (“Walton 

County”) and MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia 

(“Morgan County”), acting through their respective Boards of Commissioners, are each executing an 

Acknowledgment and Agreement hereof attached to this Agreement in order to acknowledge and approve 

the agreement of each to the provisions hereof that are respectively applicable to each of them, but are not 

considered to be “Parties” to such Agreement. 

Newton County will be responsible for and the primary administrative agency for purposes of the 

Agreement to which this is attached. 

Intergovernmental Agreements. To the extent permitted by law, this Agreement shall constitute an 

intergovernmental agreement under Georgia Constitution Art. IX, Sec. Ill, Para. I between and among 

Newton County, Walton County, and Morgan County. Such intergovernmental agreement is subject to the 

50-year term limit contained in such provision of the Georgia Constitution, but shall expire earlier upon its 

complete performance. By the execution of their respective Acknowledgments hereof, Walton County and 

Morgan County hereby agree, each with each other and with Newton County, to all of the provisions hereof 

respectively applicable to them. 

  

- 76 -



18 
 

66568066v.11 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED 

The undersigned acknowledges this Agreement and agrees to the provisions hereof that are applicable to 

it as set forth in the above Development Agreement, as the same was approved at a properly noticed and 

duly called public meeting of the of the body. 

WALTON COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

By: ___________________________________________ Date:______________________ 

     Chairman, Board of Commissioners of Walton County 

 

Attest: 

 

______________________________________ 

Clerk of the Board  

 

 

[County’s Seal] 

- 77 -



19 
 

66568066v.11 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED 

The undersigned acknowledges this Agreement and agrees to the provisions hereof that are applicable to 

it as set forth in the above Development Agreement, as the same was approved at a properly noticed and 

duly called public meeting of the of the body. 

MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

By:         Date:______________________ 

     Chairman, Board of Commissioners of Morgan County 

 

Attest: 

 

______________________________________ 

Clerk of the Board  

 

[County’s Seal] 

 

  

- 78 -



 

 
66568066v.11 

EXHIBIT A 

Property Description 

PARCEL ONE 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 282, LAND LOTS 33, 34, 63, & 64, 19TH DISTRICT, MORGAN COUNTY; MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOTS 104 & 105, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY; & MILITIA DISTRICT 

418, LAND LOTS 74, 75, 102, 103, 104, & 105, 1ST DISTRICT, WALTON COUNTY, AND BEING 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 (RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES) 5138.19 FEET SOUTHEAST FROM THE 

INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 

U.S. HIGHWAY 20 (RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 THE FOLLOWING THREE (3) COURSES AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 125.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 08’ 19” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 70.71 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 4609.25 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 72° 

11’ 50” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 49.03 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 16° 39’ 

41” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 6.43 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT-

OF-WAY THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN (13) COURSES AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 420.97 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 32° 36’ 25” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 96.33 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38’ 01” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 466.58 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 83° 21’ 59” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00 

FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 06° 38’ 01” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 466.58 

FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 39° 46’ 13” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 70.33 FEET 

TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 799.31 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 67° 33’ 05” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 101.98 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 82° 07’ 55” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 350.57 FEET TO A RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 67° 33’ 05” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 101.98 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 60° 55’ 47” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 210.35 FEET TO A RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 26° 45’ 34” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 652.38 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 78° 54’ 18” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 457.32 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET AT THE 

INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND 

LOTS 34 & 35. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY AND TRAVELING ALONG SAID 

COMMON LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 43° 47’ 03” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 2000.15 FEET TO A 

1/2” REBAR INSIDE OF A 3” PIPE, SAID 1/2” REBAR ALSO BEING THE COMMON LAND LOT 

CORNER OF LAND LOTS 34, 35, 62 & 63. THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER AND 

TRAVELING ALONG THE COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND LOTS 62 & 63, SOUTH 44° 35’ 

24” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 3006.44 FEET TO THE COMMON LAND LOT CORNER OF LAND 

LOTS 62, 63, 65, & 66. THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER, NORTH 41° 56’ 19” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 450.35 FEET TO A 1” SQUARE POST. THENCE, NORTH 47° 53’ 48” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 2554.71 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT. THENCE, SOUTH 89° 31’ 

08” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 602.34 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR ON THE COMMON LAND LOT 

LINE OF LAND LOTS 103 & 104. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID LAND LOT LINE THE 

FOLLOWING TWO (2) COURSES AND DISTANCES, NORTH 30° 38’ 44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 750.64 FEET TO 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 30° 36’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 

- 79 -



 

 
 

66568066v.11 

FEET TO AN AXLE AT THE COMMON LAND LOT CORNER OF LAND LOTS 102, 103, 104, & 105. 

THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER, SOUTH 61° 29’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE. THENCE, SOUTH 59° 21’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 275.27 FEET 

TO THE STUMP OF A 30” POPLAR TREE.  

THENCE, NORTH 27° 31’ 34” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 39.82 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, 

NORTH 37° 24’ 17” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 48.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 

32° 20’ 49” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 80.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 33° 27’ 

13” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 91.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 21° 29’ 22” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 147.14 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 14° 20’ 56” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 100.73 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 12° 31’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 83.69 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 03° 07’ 18” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 125.01 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 47’ 36” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 157.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 00’ 32” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 62.52 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 01’ 00” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 109.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 02° 50’ 00” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 41.80 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 00° 02’ 49” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 120.57 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 00° 02’ 49” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 109.12 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 35’ 43” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 104.15 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 01° 45’ 12” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 129.75 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 01° 24’ 52” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 190.23 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 58’ 59” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 177.00 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 06° 21’ 33” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 65.79 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 20’ 22” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 68.42 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 19’ 08” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 63.25 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 08° 21’ 40” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 120.23 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 22° 51’ 48” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 72.05 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 40° 06’ 12” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 99.95 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 39° 30’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 98.61 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 32° 05’ 05” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 97.79 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 14° 33’ 13” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 44.83 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 03° 34’ 04” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 48.91 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 51’ 13” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 119.07 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 15° 49’ 00” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 150.56 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 17° 53’ 59” EAST A 

DISTANCE OF 115.16 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 555.02 ACRES OR 24,176,550 SQUARE FEET 

MORE OR LESS. 

 

 

PARCEL TWO 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOT 103 & 104, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY; & MILITIA DISTRICT 

418, LAND LOT 104, 1ST DISTRICT, WALTON COUNTY, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND AT THE INTERSECTION OF NEWTON 

COUNTY, WALTON COUNTY, AND MORGAN COUNTY; THENCE NORTH 34° 24’ 38” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 14.41 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND; THENCE, SOUTH 85° 

- 80 -



 

 
 

66568066v.11 

13’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 207.58 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET, SAID REBAR BEING 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE, SOUTH 42° 23’ 51” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 296.73 FEET TO 5/8” REBAR SET. 

THENCE, NORTH 87° 35’ 29” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 1798.57 FEET TO A 1” REBAR FOUND. 

THENCE, NORTH 87° 15’ 57” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 277.54 FEET TO A POINT AT THE 

CENTERLINE OF A CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK 

FOR THE FOLLOWING SEVENTEEN (17) COURSES AND DISTANCES: NORTH 36° 16’ 52” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 9.86 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 23° 23’ 40” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 61.70 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 37° 23’ 04” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 67.46 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 12° 36’ 52” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 55.12 FEET 

TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 37° 12’ 03” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 46.14 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 15° 52’ 48” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 22.30 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 07° 40’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 60.60 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 13° 

01’ 06” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 48.80 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 33’ 37” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 67.11 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 06° 05’ 47” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 65.27 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 31° 41’ 48” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 47.54 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 01° 50’  

55” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 82.74 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 15’ 37” EAST  

FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.65 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 15° 25’ 48” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 53.79 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 11’ 40” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 173.35 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 51’ 00” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 57.96 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 31° 19’ 10” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 6.32 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE LEAVING THE CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK, NORTH 59° 21’ 20” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 59.92 FEET TO AN AXLE FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 61° 29’ 30” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE FOUND ON THE APPROXIMATE LAND LOT LINE OF 

LAND LOT 103 & 104. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 30° 36’ 56” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 30° 38’ 44” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 750.64 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE LEAVING SAID 

LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 88° 13’ 42” EAST A DISTANCE OF 395.65 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING. 

 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 42.11 ACRES OR 1,834,200 SQUARE FEET MORE 

OR LESS. 

 

 

PARCEL THREE 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOT 105, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY, AND BEING MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A COUNTY MARKER LOCATED AT THE COMMON INTERSECTION OF 

NEWTON COUNTY, WALTON COUNTY, AND MORGAN COUNTY. THENCE, NORTH 34° 24 ‘38” 

WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 14.45 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND. THENCE, 

SOUTH 85° 13’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE ON 207.58 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, 

NORTH 88° 13’ 42” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 395.65 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND ON THE 

COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND LOT 103 AND LAND LOT 104. THENCE, NORTH 30° 38’ 

- 81 -



 

 
 

66568066v.11 

44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 750.64 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 30° 

36’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 FEET TO AN AXLE AT THE COMMON LAND LOT 

CORNER OF LAND LOTS 102, 103, 104, AND 105. THENCE, SOUTH 61° 29’ 30” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE. THENCE, SOUTH 59° 21’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 275.27 FEET TO THE STUMP OF A POPLAR TREE. THENCE, NORTH 27° 31’ 34” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 39.82 FEET A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 37° 24’ 17” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 48.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 32° 20’ 49” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 80.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 33° 27’ 13” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 91.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 21° 29’ 22” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 147.14 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 14° 20’ 56” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 100.73 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 12° 31’ 42” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 83.69 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 03° 07’ 18” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 125.01 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 05° 47’ 36” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 157.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 00’ 32” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 62.52 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY 

OF SHIRE PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY ALONG A NON-

TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 02° 

43’ 46”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2058.25 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 61° 

21’ 40” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 98.05 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET; SAID POINT BEING THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY, SOUTH 19° 08’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 334.46 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 26° 54’ 13” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 198.17 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 34° 39’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 561.62 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 34° 39’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.72 

FEET TO A POINT AT THE CENTERLINE OF A CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE 

CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK FOR THE FOLLOWING FORTY TWO (42) COURSES AND 

DISTANCES, NORTH 85° 35’ 42” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.57 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 52° 43’ 46” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 71.69 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 87° 

26’ 25” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 16.56 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 72° 51’ 49” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 96.77 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 30° 22’ 25” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 103.72 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 56’ 32” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 137.93 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 17° 34’ 23” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.98 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 27° 42’ 59” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 67.11 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 73° 16’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 52.92 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 22° 23’ 26” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 82.88 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 72° 11’ 17” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 36.19 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 28° 

02’ 33” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.27 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 28° 42’ 42” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 31.31 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 72° 47’ 59” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 30.67 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 01° 53’ 15” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 22.87 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 34° 33’ 06” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 27.38 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 85° 53’ 44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 63.38 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 16° 31’ 13” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 73.56 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 57° 11’ 16” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 25.33 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 34° 05’ 41” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 54.30 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 47° 

28’ 00” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 182.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 88° 56’ 09” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 35.31 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 25° 00’ 19” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 80.05 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 76° 27’ 01” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 98.21 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 21° 17’ 54” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 95.57 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 63° 33’ 03” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.58 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 31° 09’ 11” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 49.80 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 86° 32’ 27” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 28.65 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

- 82 -



 

 
 

66568066v.11 

NORTH 02° 46’ 11” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 105.94 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 29° 

35’ 39” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 128.82 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 29° 17’ 00” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 78.57 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 15’ 42” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 91.07 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 82° 33’ 37” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 92.73 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 64° 06’ 43” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 44.20 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 07° 19’ 19” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 32.82 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 13° 23’ 03” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 114.86 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 79° 45’ 14” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 21.62 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 00° 40’ 02” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 52.55 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 41° 

16’ 55” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 44.49 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 09° 10’ 30” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 66.25 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 43° 06’ 03” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 40.50 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE LEAVING SAID CREEK SOUTH 88° 27’ 52” 

EAST A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, SOUTH 88° 27’ 52” EAST A 

DISTANCE OF 131.91 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 01° 37’ 02” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 165.67 FEET TO POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF SHIRE 

PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY FOR THE FOLLOWING FIVE 

(5) COURSES AND DISTANCES: SOUTH 88° 22’ 18” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 17.36 FEET TO 

THE BEGINNING OF A CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE 

OF 31° 12’ 43.6”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 1249.88 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

SOUTH 72° 45’ 56” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 672.49 FEET. THENCE, SOUTH 57° 09’ 30” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 229.67 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 56° 54’ 55” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 60.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 57° 01’ 18” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 60.19 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY, SOUTH 32° 

52’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 404.00 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL 

CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 89° 59’ 12”, HAVING 

A RADIUS OF 40.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 12° 08’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 56.56 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-TANGENTIAL LINE. 

THENCE, SOUTH 57° 08’ 30” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 555.17 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF 

A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH 49° 40’ 09”, 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 81° 48’ 17” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 21.00 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE. 

SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 50° 20’ 59”, HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 81° 48’ 17” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 51.05 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-TANGENTIAL LINE. 

THENCE, NORTH 32° 52’ 26” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 414.07 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF SHIRE PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID 

RIGHT OF WAY SOUTH 57° 11’ 38” EAST A DISTANCE OF 121.34 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF 

A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE 

OF 02° 47’ 59.4”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2050.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

SOUTH 58° 35’ 38” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.17 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 33.49 ACRES OR 1,458,628 SQUARE FEET MORE 

OR LESS. 

 

- 83 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

EXHIBIT B 

List of Permits 

1. Minor Plat-Platting Documents from each Project County to confirm final parcel boundary 

2. Newton County Site Development Plan-Civil Improvements Package 

3. Newton County Water and Sewerage Permit Plans (Illustrating the connection to the public water 

and sewer lines) 

4. Commercial Building Permits (May be separate permits for different buildings or components of 

the Project) 

5. Business License from each Project County where a building is physically located 

 

 

- 84 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

EXHIBIT C 

MEMORANDUM OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (as the same may be amended, 

restated, assigned in accordance with the terms herein, “Memorandum of Agreement”) is made and 

entered into as of ______________, 2021, by and between NEWTON COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political 

subdivision of the State of Georgia acting by and through its governing authority, the Newton County Board 

of Commissioners (“Newton County”) and BAYMARE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

(together with its successors and assigns, the “Company”), collectively the “Parties.”  Morgan County, 

Georgia and Walton County, Georgia (with Newton County, the “Project Counties”), have also 

acknowledged and agreed to the provisions of the Agreement applicable to them. 

RECITALS 

A. Newton County and the Company have a mutual interest in the development and operation 

of a data center project (the “Project”), on certain property located within Newton County, Morgan County 

and Walton County, Georgia (the “Property”), more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto. 

B. In reliance on certain representations made and inducements offered by Newton County, 

with concurrence by the other Project Counties, the Company has acquired an interest in the Property for 

the purpose of possibly developing the Project. 

C. The Project Counties have made representations and extended their offer of inducements 

in reliance on the Company’s proposal for the Project, which, if undertaken, will be developed in phases 

over time. 

WITH THESE UNDERSTANDINGS IN MIND, NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 

1. Newton County and the Company have entered into a Development Agreement, consented 

to by the other Project Counties to, among other things, document the understandings of the Company and 

the Project Counties, specify the nature and extent of the inducements offered, the entitlement granted and 

existing, the remaining approvals to be obtained and to otherwise set forth the rights and responsibilities of 

each of the parties. 

2. During the Term of this Agreement, and to the extent, if any, permitted by law, Newton 

County shall not support the following zoning designation(s): the R-1, R-2, R-3, M-2, MSR, DR, RMF, 

MHP and MHS for land located within one hundred (100) feet of the boundary line of the Property. The 

other Project Counties similarly agree to the commitments above with respect to those portions of the 

Project that lie within their respective jurisdictions. 

3. This Memorandum of Agreement has been prepared and executed solely for the purpose 

of recordation in the Office of the Clerk of the Superior Court of Newton County, Morgan County and 

Walton County in order to give public notice of the existence of the Development Agreement.  The Project 

Counties and Company, and their successors and assigns, remain bound by all the terms and provisions of 

the Development Agreement during the term thereof, and this Memorandum of Agreement shall not be 

deemed to, and does not, constitute a revision or replacement of the Development Agreement, or in any 

manner enlarge, restrict or change the rights or responsibilities of the Parties thereunder. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; 

SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 

- 85 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

 COMPANY: 

Baymare LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company 

By:  ___________________________________  

Name:  ________________________________  

Title:  

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ___ day 

of ________________, 2021. 

 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

 

 

 

  

- 86 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

 NEWTON COUNTY: 

Newton County, Georgia, a political subdivision 

of the State of Georgia 

By:  ___________________________________  

Name:  ________________________________  

Title:  

 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ___ day 

of ________________, 2021. 

 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

Unofficial Witness 

 

 

- 87 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

EXHIBIT A 

The Property 

[SEE ATTACHED]

- 88 -



 

 

66568066v.11 

SCHEDULE 1.16 

Project Approvals 

None as of the Effective Date 

  

- 89 -



 

 
 

66568066v.11 

SCHEDULE 4.1 

 

Non-Waived County Permitting Fees 

 

Land Disturbance 

Fire Marshal Plan Review of Land Disturbance 

Building Plan Reviews 

Building Permit Inspection 

Electrical Permit 

Plumbing Permit 

Gas Permit 

HVAC Permit 

 
 

- 90 -



- 91 -



 

 1 
68176943v.6 

INFRASTRUCTURE AGREEMENT 

THIS INFRASTRUCTURE AGREEMENT (as the same may be amended, restated, assigned in 

accordance with the terms herein, this “Agreement”) is made and dated effective as of ____________, 

2021 (“Effective Date”) by and between the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan 

County, Newton County and Walton County, a public body corporate and politic of the State of Georgia 

(the “Authority”) and Baymare LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (together with its affiliates 

and their respective successors and assigns, “Company”).  The Authority and Company are sometimes 

referred to herein collectively as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party”. 

RECITALS 

A. WHEREAS, the Company has the right to acquire and maintain an interest in certain 

undeveloped parcels of land located within the mixed-use master planned community known as Stanton 

Springs, such parcels comprising approximately 628.54 acres of land in the aggregate, located in the State 

of Georgia (the “State”) and more specifically in Morgan, Newton and Walton Counties and described on 

Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”). 

B. WHEREAS, in connection with the development and construction of a proposed Project 

(as defined in the Development Agreement [defined below]), the Company and Newton County, Georgia, 

a political subdivision of the State acting by and through its governing authority, the Newton County Board 

of Commissioners (“Newton County”), have entered into that certain Development Agreement, dated as 

of the Effective Date, the same Development Agreement having been acknowledged and agreed to by 

Walton County, Georgia, a political subdivision of the State (“Walton County”) and Morgan County, 

Georgia, a political subdivision of the State of Georgia (“Morgan County”) (as the same may be amended, 

restated, assigned or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, the 

“Development Agreement”).   

C. WHEREAS, the Authority finds developments such as the Project to be in the public 

interest of the citizens of the Project Counties (as defined in the Development Agreement), and thus desires 

to encourage and aid the Project in order to recruit the Project to such counties. 

D. WHEREAS, the Parties also desire to provide for the construction of certain public 

improvements in Walton County and Morgan County that will benefit the Project and/or the Project 

Counties, which will be constructed by, or as directed by, the Authority. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the Authority and the Company hereby agree as follows: 

1. INDEPENDENT CONSIDERATION.  The Company has paid to the Authority the 

amount of One Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($100.00) as consideration and inducement to the Authority 

to enter into this Agreement, which amount shall be non-refundable to the Company. 

2. INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS.   

(a) Promptly following the Effective Date, the Authority shall, commence and 

thereafter use diligent efforts to complete the design, permitting, and construction of the following: (i) a 

two (2) lane frontage road, running parallel to the Project, north of Interstate 20, between Highway 278 and 

Sewell Road (the “Frontage Road”), and (ii) a spur road and related road alignments and connections (for 

- 92 -



 

 2 
68176943v.6 

purposes of location only, see Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein) (the “Spur”; together 

with Frontage Road being herein collectively, the “Infrastructure Improvements”).  While the Authority 

agrees to construct a spur road in coordination with Morgan County and the Company, for the avoidance 

of doubt, the Authority is under no obligation to fund or build the turnaround depicted on Exhibit B unless 

mutually agreed to by the Parties in writing.  All of the Infrastructure Improvements shall be fully 

constructed to Completion (defined below), free of liens, and in accordance with this Agreement. All costs 

to complete the Infrastructure Improvements shall be paid by the Authority except as set forth in Section 6 

below.  Upon the Parties’ coming to a mutual agreement on the final plans and specifications (“Plans and 

Specs”) for the Spur, such Plans and Specs shall automatically replace the depiction on Exhibit B; 

provided, however, that the Parties may execute any amendment or other instrument reasonably requested 

by one Party to the other to evidence the approved Plans and Specs. 

(b) The Authority acknowledges that infrastructure capable of meeting the needs of 

the Project must exist and remain operational to allow for the successful development and operation of the 

Project, so the Authority agrees to complete (or cause the Completion of) the Infrastructure Improvements.   

(c) The Authority shall, at its sole cost and expense, obtain, and as applicable record, 

all necessary right-of-way, easement and crossing rights needed from any third parties to complete the 

Infrastructure Improvements.  

3. CONSTRUCTION.   

(a) The Authority shall construct (or cause to be constructed) the Infrastructure 

Improvements: (i) on or before the deadlines set forth on Exhibit C; (ii) in such a manner as to maintain 

harmonious labor relations and as not to interfere with or delay any work on the Project to be performed by 

the Company or the Company’s contractors; (iii) in such a manner that the Company and the Company’s 

contractors shall have reasonable vehicular and pedestrian access to the Property via public rights of way 

or any easements of record at all times; and (iv) in accordance with this Agreement.  The Authority shall, 

and shall cause the Authority’s contractors to, act in a commercially reasonable manner and endeavor in 

good faith to ensure the timely progression of construction of the Infrastructure Improvements.  The 

Authority shall deliver to the Company regular updates (not less than monthly, or more often upon request 

of the Company, which updates are to be delivered monthly between the 1st and 10th days of such month) 

regarding the progress of and schedule for completion of the Infrastructure Improvements. All construction 

work occasioned by this Agreement shall be performed by contractors furnishing the lowest and best bid 

as determined pursuant to formal bidding requirements in accordance with the laws of the State, and as 

thereafter approved by the Authority. 

(b) The Company shall have the right to retain, at Company’s expense,  a civil engineer 

(the “Construction Monitor”) to (i) review and advise the Company with respect to all matters related to 

the design, construction, operation and use of the Infrastructure Improvements, (ii) monitor the progress of 

the development and construction of the Infrastructure Improvements, and (iii) review on behalf of 

Company all Payment Requests (hereinafter defined) submitted by the Authority.  The Authority 

acknowledges that (A) the Construction Monitor has been retained by Company to act as a consultant, and 

only as a consultant, to Company in connection with the construction of the Infrastructure Improvements, 

(B) the Construction Monitor shall in no event have any power or authority to make any decision or to give 

any approval or consent or to do any other thing which is binding upon Company, and any such purported 

decision, approval, consent or act by the Construction Monitor on behalf of Company shall be void and of 

no force or effect, (C) Company reserves the right to make any and all decisions required to be made by 

Company under this Agreement, and without in any instance being bound or limited in any manner 

whatsoever by any opinion expressed or not expressed by the Construction Monitor to Company or any 

other person with respect thereto, (D) Company is entitled to the right but not the obligation to rely 

conclusively on the reports of the Construction Monitor with respect to any matter relating to the 

- 93 -



 

 3 
68176943v.6 

construction of the Infrastructure Improvements, and (E) Company reserves the right in its sole and absolute 

discretion to replace the Construction Monitor with another inspector or monitor at any time and without 

prior notice to or approval by the Authority.  The Construction Monitor shall be granted access at all 

reasonable times to any construction site of the Infrastructure Improvements (but in any event not earlier 

than 7 AM nor later than 7 PM [unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties]). The Company agrees to inform 

the Construction Monitor not to give instruction to or make demands upon any of the Authority’s 

contractors or consultants associated with the Infrastructure Improvements.  Moreover, the Construction 

Monitor shall not be the engineer of record for the Project. 

4. PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY AND MAINTENANCE. The Authority agrees to build the 

Spur in accordance with Morgan County’s road specifications and requirements in order to qualify the Spur 

for dedication of a county road in Morgan County, and upon Completion of the Spur, the Authority shall 

cause the Spur to be publicly dedicated in Morgan County.  Morgan County agrees, by signing the 

Acknowledgement and Agreement attached to this Agreement, to: accept and approve the dedication of the 

Spur if said Spur meets Morgan County’s road specifications and requirements for county roads, and if so, 

thereafter assume responsibility for the care and maintenance of the Spur.  

5. EASEMENTS.  Notwithstanding any current or future Authority requirements, the 

Company, at its sole cost and expense, shall grant to the Authority a temporary construction easement 

determined to be reasonably necessary for the Authority to perform the Infrastructure Improvements related 

to the Spur. To the extent required, the form of such easement shall be subject to the joint and reasonable 

approval of the Authority and the Company.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 

Authority’s access rights to the Property shall be subject to the terms and conditions of that certain Lease 

Agreement (as amended) by and between the Authority and the Company dated on or around the Effective 

Date. 

6. REIMBURSEMENT. The Company agrees to provide funds, not to exceed $3,000,000 

(the “Improvement Funds”), to be used by the Authority in connection with payment for or reimbursement 

of construction costs of the Frontage Road. The Improvement Funds shall be a portion of the bond issuance 

fee payable to the Authority in connection with its issuance of revenue bonds, and the Company’s 

disbursement of the Improvement Funds shall be contingent upon the Authority’s timely progress and 

Completion of the Frontage Road as set forth below (each of [a] and [b], being a “Milestone”):   

(a) On the Effective Date; and 

(b) Upon Completion (defined below) of the Frontage Road. 

Upon the satisfaction of each Milestone, the Company shall deliver one (1) installment in the 

amount of $1,500,000.00 to the Authority.  Unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated pursuant to the 

terms hereof, the Company shall deliver two (2) total installments over the Term of this Agreement, and 

such aggregate amount paid by the Company for the reimbursement or payment of the Infrastructure 

Improvements shall not exceed the amount of the Improvement Funds. For purposes of satisfying the 

Milestone in Section 6(b) above, the Authority shall submit, by written notice to the Company, a payment 

request (a “Payment Request”) and evidence of Completion of the Frontage Road.  The Company shall 

have thirty (30) days following its receipt of a Payment Request to either (i) pay to the Authority the final 

installment of the Improvement Funds, or (ii) notify the Authority in writing that the Company objects to 

the Payment Request, which objection shall be based on the Authority’s failure to comply with any of the 

terms of this Agreement.  The Company shall not be required to make any payment or reimbursement of 

the Improvement Funds in connection with Completion unless and until such Milestone has been satisfied 

in full to the commercially reasonable satisfaction of the Company.  For purposes of this Agreement, 

“Completion” shall mean (a) the Authority’s receipt of final approval of Infrastructure Improvements by 

the permitting government authority and delivery of the same to the Company and (b) with respect to (x) 

- 94 -



 

 4 
68176943v.6 

Frontage Road, the Authority shall deliver an easement agreement, in form and substance acceptable to the 

Company, which grants perpetual access rights to the Company and the Project to Frontage Road or 

evidence, satisfactory to the Company, that Frontage Road is a public road or (y) the Spur is publically 

dedicated to Morgan County as a public county road.       

7. TERM.  The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the later of (i) the 

Effective Date, and (ii) the date the Company takes either a fee or leasehold interest in the Property, and 

terminate upon Completion of the Infrastructure Improvements (or such earlier time pursuant to Section 8 

of this Agreement).     

8. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES. 

(a) Generally.  In the event of a default of this Agreement, the non-defaulting Party 

shall provide written notice of the default to the defaulting Party and shall specify a period of not less than 

fifteen (15) days during which the defaulting Party shall have the right to cure such default; provided, 

however, that such cure period may be extended if (i) the default cannot reasonably be cured within the 

cure period provided in such notice, (ii) the curing Party notifies the non-defaulting Party of such fact by 

no later than the end of the cure period provided in the notice, (iii) the curing Party has theretofore been 

diligent in pursuing the cure and (iv) the curing Party in such extension notice covenants to (and thereafter 

actually does) diligently pursue the cure to completion.  If the defaulting Party fails to cure the default, the 

non-defaulting Party may either (a) terminate this Agreement and seek damages from the defaulting Party 

or (b) enforce this Agreement by the remedy of damages or specific performance or both. 

(b) Mutual Waiver of Consequential Damages.  Except in the case of gross negligence, 

bad faith or willful misconduct, for which claims for consequential damages are expressly reserved by the 

Parties, each Party hereby waives all claims against the other Party for any consequential or indirect 

damages that may arise out of or relate to this Agreement. 

9. MISCELLANEOUS.  

(a) Recitals.  The recitals of this Agreement are material terms hereof and shall be 

binding upon the Parties. 

(b) Notice.  Whenever any notice is required or permitted under this Agreement, it 

shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, with acknowledgment of receipt being obtained by the 

delivering Party, or by U.S. Certified Mail, return receipt requested, or by overnight delivery service by a 

reliable company, such as Federal Express or United States Parcel Service.  Until further notification by 

written notice in the manner required by this Section 9(b), notices to the Parties shall be delivered as 

follows: 

Authority: Joint Development Authority 

Chairman 

300 E Church Street 

Monroe, GA 30655 

 

With a copy to: Andrea P. Gray, LLC  

300 E Church Street 

Monroe, Georgia 30655 

 

- 95 -



 

 5 
68176943v.6 

Company: Baymare LLC 

c/o Tamaron Houston 

Seyfarth Shaw LLP 

1075 Peachtree Street, NE 

Suite 2500 

Atlanta, Georgia 30309-3962  

  

With respect to any notice given in the manner described above, the Party giving such notice shall 

also send the notice by email to the email address(es) of the recipient Party set forth above; however, simply 

sending an email(s) shall not be deemed sufficient service of a notice in accordance with this Agreement.  

If notice is given by U.S. Certified Mail, then the notice shall be deemed to have been given on the second 

(2nd) Business Day (herein defined) after the date the envelope containing the notice is deposited in the 

U.S. Mail, properly addressed to the Party to whom it is directed, postage prepaid.  Notice made by personal 

delivery or overnight delivery shall be deemed given when received.  The Parties, by written notice given 

to the other, may designate any further or different names or addresses to which all notices or other 

communications shall be sent without said further or different names or addresses being considered 

amendments to this Agreement. 

(c) Assignment.  The Company may assign its rights and obligations under this 

Agreement without the consent of the Authority to any (i) person, firm or entity of its choice which is 

controlled by or under common control with Company, or (ii) subsequent owner of all or any portion of the 

Property.  If Company assigns its rights and obligations hereunder as provided in the previous sentence, 

then Company shall be relieved of all of its covenants, commitments and obligations hereunder.  The 

Authority shall have the right to assign all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to 

the State or other government entity upon written approval of the Company which approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that in the event that the Improvement Funds have not been 

fully disbursed by the Company, the Company shall have the right to approve any assignee in its reasonable 

discretion. 

(d) Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits attached hereto, 

contains the entire agreement between the Parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and all prior or 

contemporaneous communications or agreements between the Parties or their respective representatives 

with respect to the subject matter herein, whether oral or written, are merged into this Agreement and 

extinguished.  No agreement, representation or inducement shall be effective to change, modify or terminate 

this Agreement, in whole or in part, unless in writing and signed by the Party or Parties to be bound by such 

change, modification or termination.  If any term or provision of this Agreement or any application thereof 

shall be unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and any other application of any such term or 

provision shall not be affected thereby, and each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable 

to the fullest extent permitted by law.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement represents a 

negotiated agreement, having been drafted, negotiated and agreed upon by the Parties and their respective 

legal counsel.  Therefore, the Parties agree that the fact that one Party or the other Party may have been 

primarily responsible for drafting or editing this Agreement shall not, in any dispute over the terms of this 

Agreement, cause this Agreement to be interpreted against such Party.  It is the Parties’ collective intention 

to encourage, promote and aid the Project so that the opportunities and positive community impacts of the 

Project are fully realized by the Authority, the citizens of Morgan County, Newton County and Walton 

County and Company. 

(e) Waivers.  Neither Party may waive any condition or breach of any representation, 

term, covenant or condition of this Agreement, except in a writing signed by the waiving Party and 

specifically describing the condition or breach waived.  The waiver by either Party of any condition or 

breach of any representation, term, condition or covenant contained in this Agreement shall not be deemed 

- 96 -



 

 6 
68176943v.6 

to be a waiver of any other representation, term, condition or covenant or of any subsequent breach of the 

same or of any other representation, term, condition or covenant of this Agreement. 

(f) Governing Law.  This Agreement is governed by and shall be construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State. 

(g) Interpretation.  The section headings of this Agreement are for convenience of 

reference only and shall not be deemed to modify, explain, restrict, alter or affect the meaning or 

interpretation of any provision hereof.  Whenever the singular number is used, and when required by the 

context, the same includes the plural, and the masculine gender includes the feminine and neuter genders.  

All references herein to “Section” or “Exhibit” reference the applicable Section of this Agreement or 

Exhibit attached hereto; and all Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated herein and made a part hereof to 

the same extent as if they were included in the body of this Agreement.  The use in this Agreement of the 

words “including”, “such as” or words of similar import when used with reference to any general term, 

statement or matter shall not be construed to limit such term, statement or matter to the specific terms, 

statements or matters, unless language of limitation, such as “and limited to” or words of similar import are 

used with reference thereto.  Rather, such terms shall be deemed to refer to all other items or matters that 

could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such term, statement or matter. 

(h) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in as many counterparts as may 

be deemed necessary and convenient, and by the Parties in separate counterparts, each of which, when so 

executed, shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts shall constitute one and the same 

instrument.  A scanned or photocopy signature on this Agreement, any amendment hereto or any notice 

delivered hereunder shall have the same legal effect as an original signature. 

(i) Business Days.  As used herein, the term “Business Day” shall mean a day that is 

not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State.  All other references to “days” hereunder shall mean 

calendar days.  If the date for the performance of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement shall 

fall on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the State of Georgia, then the date for performance thereof 

shall be extended to the next Business Day. 

(j) Effect on Other Vested Rights.  This Agreement does not abrogate any rights 

established or preserved by any applicable law, or by the Development Agreement or by any other 

agreement or contract executed by the Authority and Company in connection with the Project, or that have 

vested or may vest pursuant to common law or otherwise. 

(k) Confidential Information.  Company may designate any trade secrets or 

confidential business information included in any report or other writing delivered to the Authority pursuant 

to or in connection with this Agreement by any method intended to clearly set apart the specific material 

that Company claims to be either its trade secrets or confidential business information that, if released, 

would give an advantage to competitors or result in unfair competitive injury to Company (such 

information, collectively, “Confidential Business Information”).  The Authority shall redact or delete any 

Confidential Business Information from any records it makes available for inspection or of which it 

provides copies.  Nothing herein shall prohibit Authority from disclosing this Agreement to the extent 

required by law, including, but not limited to, any open records or similar laws; however (i) Authority will 

give notice (by email to thouston@seyfarth.com) of Authority’s receipt of an open records request within 

one (1) Business Day after receipt together with a copy of the open records request, (ii) Authority will give 

a copy of what the Authority plans to submit in response within two (2) Business Days after receipt of such 

open records request, and (iii) to the extent permissible by the open records law, documents will have 

Confidential Business Information redacted before delivered to the party invoking the open records request. 

- 97 -

mailto:thouston@seyfarth.com


 

 7 
68176943v.6 

(l) Attorneys’ Fees.  If any action is brought by any Party against the other Party, 

relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the enforcement hereof, the prevailing Party shall be entitled 

to recover from the other Party the reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection 

with the prosecution or defense of such action, including the costs and fees incurred in connection with the 

enforcement or collection of any judgment obtained in any such proceeding.  The provisions of this Section 

9(l) shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the entry of any judgment and shall not merge, or 

be deemed to have merged, into any judgment. 

(m) Further Assurances.  Upon the request of a Party, each Party agrees to (i) furnish 

to the requesting Party such requested information, (ii) execute and deliver to the requesting Party such 

requested documents and (iii) do such other acts and things reasonably required for the purpose of carrying 

out the intent of this Agreement.  

(n) Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST 

EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, 

ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (I) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR (II) IN ANY WAY 

CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE 

TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO.  EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT 

ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY A 

COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY AND THAT EITHER PARTY MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS 

AGREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS EVIDENCE OF SUCH WAIVER. 

(o) Anti-Corruption; Compliance.  In connection with the negotiation and 

performance of this Agreement, (a) the Authority represents and warrants that it has complied, and 

covenants that it shall comply, with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including anti-corruption 

legislation, and (b) the Authority and the Company each represent and warrant to the other that it has used, 

and shall use, only legitimate and ethical business practices. 

(p) Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement Company and 

Authority acknowledge the existence of uncertainty resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic and other force 

majeure events including but not limited to “Acts of God” or delays due to weather (collectively, a “Force 

Majeure Condition”) that certain governmental functions may operate on schedules or cause delays that 

may prevent the Parties hereto, through no fault of such Party or Parties, from meeting deadlines and other 

dates set forth in this Agreement.  As a result, the Parties agree that either Party may deliver an extension 

notice if a Force Majeure Condition exists in order to extend the date required for performance of any 

deadline or other date set forth herein, and such deadline or date shall be extended as set forth in such 

Party’s extension notice but in no event shall any extension or extensions allowed in this Section 9(p) 

exceed sixty (60) days in the aggregate. The Parties also agree and acknowledge that construction of the 

Infrastructure Improvements will require receipt of a Section 404 Permit from the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers and that delays in processing said permit could delay the construction schedule at no fault of the 

Authority or the Company.  The Parties agree to work together to establish reasonable schedule 

modifications to accommodate delays caused by the Section 404 Permit, if any, and under no circumstances 

will the Authority be held liable for a breach of this Agreement for circumstances, acts or failure to act 

related to the Section 404 Permit, which are wholly outside of its control, including those delays 

conclusively proven by the Authority to be directly caused by the acts of the Company. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; 

SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 

- 98 -



 

 

The Authority and the Company have caused this Agreement to be signed under seal, in their names 

and on their behalf by their duly authorized officers, all as of the day and date first written above. 

AUTHORITY: 

 

JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER COUNTY, MORGAN COUNTY, 

NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON 

COUNTY, a public body corporate and politic of 

the State of Georgia 

 

 

By: [SEAL] 

Name:  

Title:  

 

 

Attest 

 

 

 

By: [SEAL] 

Name:  

Title:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; SIGNATURE AND 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT PAGES FOLLOW]

- 99 -



 

 

COMPANY: 

 

BAYMARE LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

 

 

By: [SEAL] 

Name:  

Title:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK; ACKNOWLEDGEMENT PAGE 

FOLLOW]

- 100 -



 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT 

 

Morgan County, acting through its Boards of Commissioners, hereby executes this Acknowledgment and 

Agreement in order to acknowledge and the agree to each of the provisions of this Agreement which are 

applicable to it, but Morgan County is not considered a “Party” to this Agreement. 

 

MORGAN COUNTY: 

 

MORGAN COUNTY GEORGIA,  

a political subdivision of the State of Georgia 

 

 

By: [SEAL] 

Name:  

Title:  

 

- 101 -



 

 A-1 
68176943v.6 

EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY 

[SEE ATTACHED] 

- 102 -



 

 A-2 
68176943v.6 

PARCEL ONE 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 282, LAND LOTS 33, 34, 63, & 64, 19TH DISTRICT, MORGAN COUNTY; MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOTS 104 & 105, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY; & MILITIA DISTRICT 

418, LAND LOTS 74, 75, 102, 103, 104, & 105, 1ST DISTRICT, WALTON COUNTY, AND BEING 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 (RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES) 5138.19 FEET SOUTHEAST FROM THE 

INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF 

U.S. HIGHWAY 20 (RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES), SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 THE FOLLOWING THREE (3) COURSES AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 125.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 08’ 19” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 70.71 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 4609.25 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 72° 

11’ 50” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 49.03 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 16° 39’ 

41” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 6.43 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY 

RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT-

OF-WAY THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN (13) COURSES AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 420.97 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 32° 36’ 25” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 96.33 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38’ 01” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 466.58 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 83° 21’ 59” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00 

FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 06° 38’ 01” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 466.58 

FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 39° 46’ 13” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 70.33 FEET 

TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51’ 41” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 799.31 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 67° 33’ 05” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 101.98 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 82° 07’ 55” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 350.57 FEET TO A RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 67° 33’ 05” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 101.98 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 60° 55’ 47” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 210.35 FEET TO A RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 26° 45’ 34” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 652.38 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

SOUTH 78° 54’ 18” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 457.32 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET AT THE 

INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND 

LOTS 34 & 35. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY AND TRAVELING ALONG SAID 

COMMON LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 43° 47’ 03” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 2000.15 FEET TO A 

1/2” REBAR INSIDE OF A 3” PIPE, SAID 1/2” REBAR ALSO BEING THE COMMON LAND LOT 

CORNER OF LAND LOTS 34, 35, 62 & 63. THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER AND 

TRAVELING ALONG THE COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND LOTS 62 & 63, SOUTH 44° 35’ 

24” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 3006.44 FEET TO THE COMMON LAND LOT CORNER OF LAND 

LOTS 62, 63, 65, & 66. THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER, NORTH 41° 56’ 19” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 450.35 FEET TO A 1” SQUARE POST. THENCE, NORTH 47° 53’ 48” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 2554.71 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT. THENCE, SOUTH 89° 31’ 

08” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 602.34 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR ON THE COMMON LAND LOT 

LINE OF LAND LOTS 103 & 104. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID LAND LOT LINE THE 

FOLLOWING TWO (2) COURSES AND DISTANCES, NORTH 30° 38’ 44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 750.64 FEET TO 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 30° 36’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 

FEET TO AN AXLE AT THE COMMON LAND LOT CORNER OF LAND LOTS 102, 103, 104, & 105. 

THENCE LEAVING SAID LAND LOT CORNER, SOUTH 61° 29’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

- 103 -



 

 A-3 
68176943v.6 

945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE. THENCE, SOUTH 59° 21’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 275.27 FEET 

TO THE STUMP OF A 30” POPLAR TREE.  

THENCE, NORTH 27° 31’ 34” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 39.82 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, 

NORTH 37° 24’ 17” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 48.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 

32° 20’ 49” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 80.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 33° 27’ 

13” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 91.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 21° 29’ 22” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 147.14 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 14° 20’ 56” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 100.73 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 12° 31’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 83.69 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR. THENCE, NORTH 03° 07’ 18” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 125.01 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 47’ 36” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 157.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 00’ 32” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 62.52 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 01’ 00” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 109.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 02° 50’ 00” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 41.80 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 00° 02’ 49” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 120.57 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 00° 02’ 49” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 109.12 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 35’ 43” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 104.15 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 01° 45’ 12” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 129.75 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 01° 24’ 52” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 190.23 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 58’ 59” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 177.00 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 06° 21’ 33” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 65.79 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 20’ 22” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 68.42 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 19’ 08” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 63.25 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 08° 21’ 40” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 120.23 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 22° 51’ 48” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 72.05 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 40° 06’ 12” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 99.95 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 39° 30’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 98.61 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 32° 05’ 05” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 97.79 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 14° 33’ 13” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 44.83 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 03° 34’ 04” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 48.91 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 04° 51’ 13” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 119.07 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 15° 49’ 00” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 150.56 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 17° 53’ 59” EAST A 

DISTANCE OF 115.16 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 555.02 ACRES OR 24,176,550 SQUARE FEET 

MORE OR LESS. 

 

 

PARCEL TWO 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOT 103 & 104, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY; & MILITIA DISTRICT 

418, LAND LOT 104, 1ST DISTRICT, WALTON COUNTY, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND AT THE INTERSECTION OF NEWTON 

COUNTY, WALTON COUNTY, AND MORGAN COUNTY; THENCE NORTH 34° 24’ 38” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 14.41 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND; THENCE, SOUTH 85° 

13’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 207.58 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET, SAID REBAR BEING 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

- 104 -



 

 A-4 
68176943v.6 

 

THENCE, SOUTH 42° 23’ 51” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 296.73 FEET TO 5/8” REBAR SET. 

THENCE, NORTH 87° 35’ 29” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 1798.57 FEET TO A 1” REBAR FOUND. 

THENCE, NORTH 87° 15’ 57” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 277.54 FEET TO A POINT AT THE 

CENTERLINE OF A CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK 

FOR THE FOLLOWING SEVENTEEN (17) COURSES AND DISTANCES: NORTH 36° 16’ 52” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 9.86 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 23° 23’ 40” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 61.70 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 37° 23’ 04” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 67.46 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 12° 36’ 52” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 55.12 FEET 

TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 37° 12’ 03” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 46.14 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 15° 52’ 48” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 22.30 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 07° 40’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 60.60 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 13° 

01’ 06” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 48.80 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 33’ 37” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 67.11 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 06° 05’ 47” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 65.27 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 31° 41’ 48” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 47.54 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 01° 50’  

55” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 82.74 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 15’ 37” EAST  

FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.65 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 15° 25’ 48” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 53.79 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 11’ 40” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 173.35 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 51’ 00” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 57.96 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 31° 19’ 10” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 6.32 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE LEAVING THE CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK, NORTH 59° 21’ 20” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 59.92 FEET TO AN AXLE FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 61° 29’ 30” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE FOUND ON THE APPROXIMATE LAND LOT LINE OF 

LAND LOT 103 & 104. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 30° 36’ 56” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 30° 38’ 44” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 750.64 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE LEAVING SAID 

LAND LOT LINE, SOUTH 88° 13’ 42” EAST A DISTANCE OF 395.65 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING. 

 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 42.11 ACRES OR 1,834,200 SQUARE FEET MORE 

OR LESS. 

 

 

PARCEL THREE 

ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA 

DISTRICT 420, LAND LOT 105, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY, AND BEING MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A COUNTY MARKER LOCATED AT THE COMMON INTERSECTION OF 

NEWTON COUNTY, WALTON COUNTY, AND MORGAN COUNTY. THENCE, NORTH 34° 24 ‘38” 

WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 14.45 FEET TO A CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND. THENCE, 

SOUTH 85° 13’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE ON 207.58 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, 

NORTH 88° 13’ 42” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 395.65 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND ON THE 

COMMON LAND LOT LINE OF LAND LOT 103 AND LAND LOT 104. THENCE, NORTH 30° 38’ 

44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 750.64 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 30° 

36’ 56” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 701.70 FEET TO AN AXLE AT THE COMMON LAND LOT 

CORNER OF LAND LOTS 102, 103, 104, AND 105. THENCE, SOUTH 61° 29’ 30” WEST FOR A 

- 105 -



 

 A-5 
68176943v.6 

DISTANCE OF 945.63 FEET TO AN AXLE. THENCE, SOUTH 59° 21’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 275.27 FEET TO THE STUMP OF A POPLAR TREE. THENCE, NORTH 27° 31’ 34” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 39.82 FEET A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 37° 24’ 17” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 48.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 32° 20’ 49” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 80.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 33° 27’ 13” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 91.59 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 21° 29’ 22” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 147.14 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 14° 20’ 56” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 100.73 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 12° 31’ 42” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 83.69 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 03° 07’ 18” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 125.01 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 05° 47’ 36” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 157.40 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 05° 00’ 32” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 62.52 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY 

OF SHIRE PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY ALONG A NON-

TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 02° 

43’ 46”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2058.25 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 61° 

21’ 40” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 98.05 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET; SAID POINT BEING THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY, SOUTH 19° 08’ 21” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 334.46 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 26° 54’ 13” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 198.17 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 34° 39’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 561.62 

FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 34° 39’ 30” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.72 

FEET TO A POINT AT THE CENTERLINE OF A CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE 

CENTERLINE OF SAID CREEK FOR THE FOLLOWING FORTY TWO (42) COURSES AND 

DISTANCES, NORTH 85° 35’ 42” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.57 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 52° 43’ 46” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 71.69 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 87° 

26’ 25” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 16.56 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 72° 51’ 49” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 96.77 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 30° 22’ 25” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 103.72 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 39° 56’ 32” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 137.93 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 17° 34’ 23” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.98 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 27° 42’ 59” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 67.11 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 73° 16’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 52.92 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 22° 23’ 26” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 82.88 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 72° 11’ 17” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 36.19 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 28° 

02’ 33” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.27 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 28° 42’ 42” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 31.31 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 72° 47’ 59” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 30.67 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 01° 53’ 15” EAST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 22.87 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 34° 33’ 06” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 27.38 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 85° 53’ 44” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 63.38 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 16° 31’ 13” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 73.56 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 57° 11’ 16” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 25.33 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 34° 05’ 41” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 54.30 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 47° 

28’ 00” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 182.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 88° 56’ 09” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 35.31 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 25° 00’ 19” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 80.05 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 76° 27’ 01” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 98.21 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 21° 17’ 54” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 95.57 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 63° 33’ 03” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 19.58 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 31° 09’ 11” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 49.80 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 86° 32’ 27” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 28.65 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 02° 46’ 11” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 105.94 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 29° 

35’ 39” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 128.82 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 29° 17’ 00” EAST 

- 106 -



 

 A-6 
68176943v.6 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 78.57 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 10° 15’ 42” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 91.07 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 82° 33’ 37” WEST FOR A DISTANCE 

OF 92.73 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 64° 06’ 43” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 44.20 

FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 07° 19’ 19” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 32.82 FEET TO A 

POINT. THENCE, NORTH 13° 23’ 03” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 114.86 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 79° 45’ 14” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 21.62 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, 

NORTH 00° 40’ 02” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 52.55 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 41° 

16’ 55” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 44.49 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 09° 10’ 30” WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 66.25 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 43° 06’ 03” WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 40.50 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE LEAVING SAID CREEK SOUTH 88° 27’ 52” 

EAST A DISTANCE OF 20.00 FEET TO A 5/8” REBAR SET. THENCE, SOUTH 88° 27’ 52” EAST A 

DISTANCE OF 131.91 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, NORTH 01° 37’ 02” EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 165.67 FEET TO POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF SHIRE 

PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY FOR THE FOLLOWING FIVE 

(5) COURSES AND DISTANCES: SOUTH 88° 22’ 18” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 17.36 FEET TO 

THE BEGINNING OF A CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE 

OF 31° 12’ 43.6”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 1249.88 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

SOUTH 72° 45’ 56” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 672.49 FEET. THENCE, SOUTH 57° 09’ 30” EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 229.67 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 56° 54’ 55” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 60.57 FEET TO A 1/2” REBAR FOUND. THENCE, SOUTH 57° 01’ 18” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 60.19 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT OF WAY, SOUTH 32° 

52’ 20” WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 404.00 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL 

CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 89° 59’ 12”, HAVING 

A RADIUS OF 40.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 12° 08’ 42” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 56.56 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-TANGENTIAL LINE. 

THENCE, SOUTH 57° 08’ 30” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 555.17 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF 

A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH 49° 40’ 09”, 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 25.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 81° 48’ 17” 

EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 21.00 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE. 

SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 50° 20’ 59”, HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 60.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 81° 48’ 17” EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 51.05 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-TANGENTIAL LINE. 

THENCE, NORTH 32° 52’ 26” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 414.07 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF SHIRE PARKWAY. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID 

RIGHT OF WAY SOUTH 57° 11’ 38” EAST A DISTANCE OF 121.34 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF 

A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE 

OF 02° 47’ 59.4”, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2050.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

SOUTH 58° 35’ 38” EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.17 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 33.49 ACRES OR 1,458,628 SQUARE FEET MORE 

OR LESS. 

 

 

- 107 -



 

 A-7 
68176943v.6 

EXHIBIT B 

DEPICTION OF SPUR 

 

 

- 108 -



 

 C-1 
68176943v.6 

EXHIBIT C 

CONSTRUCTION DEADLINES 

Final construction deadlines and phasing shall be determined upon consultation between the 

Authority’s engineering representatives and the Company’s Construction Monitor or other engineer 

selected by the Company.  The schedule below is a placeholder until such time as a more detailed scheduled 

can be derived (the “Updated Schedule”).  The Updated Schedule shall be approved by the Parties as an 

amendment to this Agreement within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date.  Following adoption of the 

Updated Schedule, the schedule may be adjusted by mutual agreement of the Authority and Company at 

any time.   

1. Frontage Road: 18 to 24 months after the Effective Date 

2. Spur: The Spur may be constructed in multiple phases and timed to accommodate construction 

traffic and to have final paving and connections to Frontage Road completed by the deadline for 

Frontage Road.  A graded and graveled roadbed suitable for access to the Property shall be installed 

by the Authority in accordance with the timeline mutually agreed upon by the Parties in writing on 

or prior to the Effective Date, and thereafter incorporated into the Updated Schedule.  The Spur 

will receive final paving simultaneously with that of the Frontage Road. 

 

 

 

- 109 -



- 110 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-008 

Page 1 of 4  

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF MORGAN 

COUNTY, GEORGIA, AUTHORIZING THE BOARD OF TAX ASSESSORS 

OF MORGAN COUNTY TO ENTER INTO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT WITH THE JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF 

JASPER COUNTY, MORGAN COUNTY, NEWTON COUNTY AND 

WALTON COUNTY, THE BOARD OF TAX ASSESSORS OF NEWTON 

COUNTY, AND THE BOARD OF TAX ASSESSORS OF WALTON COUNTY, 

REGARDING PROJECT BAYMARE, AND RELATED PURPOSES. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Morgan County, Georgia (the “Board of 

Commissioners”), as the governing body of Morgan County, Georgia (the “County”), desires to 

authorizes the Board of Tax Assessors of Morgan County (the “Morgan Assessors”) to enter into an 

agreement related to the administration of the Morgan Assessors’ duties to identify, classify, and 

value, as appropriate, properties in the County; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton 

County, and Walton County (the “JDA”), has negotiated for the location of and construction of a 

facility in the development park known as “Stanton Springs,” on parcels of land consisting 

approximately 628.54 acres, spanning across the boundary lines of the County, Newton County, and 

Walton County (the “Project”) for the benefit of Baymare LLC (the “Company”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Morgan Assessors have determined it to be in the best interests of the 

administration of the Morgan Assessors’ duties to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with the 

JDA, the Board of Tax Assessors of Newton County (the “Newton Assessors”), and the Board of Tax 

Assessors of Walton County (the “Walton Assessors”) relating to (i) the mutual determination by 

the Morgan Assessors, the Newton Assessors, and the Walton Assessors (collectively, the “Boards 

of Assessors”) of the non-taxability of the interests of the Company under the relevant financing 

structure in the property comprising the Project, and (ii) the agreement of the Boards of Assessors to 

contract with the JDA related to administration of valuation, tax savings, and related calculations 

for the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Board of Commissioners of the County, the 

Board of Commissioners of Newton County, and the Board of Commissioners of Walton County 

each adopt a resolution authorizing, respectively, the Morgan Assessors, the Newton Assessors, 

and the Walton Assessors to enter into such intergovernmental agreement(s). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of Morgan 

County, Georgia, as follows: 
 

Section 1. Authorization to Enter Into Intergovernmental Agreement. The execution and 

delivery by the Morgan Assessors of one or more agreements with the JDA, the Newton Assessors, 

and the Walton Assessors as contemplated herein are hereby authorized by the Board of 

Commissioners, as the governing body for the County. Any such agreements of the Morgan 

Assessors as approved by this Resolution may be made separately or in conjunction with and as part 

of one or more agreements between the JDA and the Company. The Chairman and/or Vice 

- 111 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-008 

Page 2 of 4  

Chairman and Clerk are hereby authorized to enter this Resolution, as discussed, reviewed and 

adopted at a duly noticed and public meeting of the Board of Commissioners, to take any and all 

further action and to execute and deliver any and all other documents as may be necessary or 

appropriate in connection with the foregoing. 
 

Section 2. Governing Law. This Resolution shall be governed by and shall be construed 

under and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia, without regard to the 

provisions of Georgia law relating to conflict of laws. 
 

Section 3. No Individual Responsibility of Officials. No stipulations, obligations or 

agreements of the Board of Commissioners or the County shall be deemed to be stipulations, 

obligations or agreements of any member, official, or employee of the County in his or her 

individual capacity. 
 

Section 4. Conflicts. Any and all resolutions or parts of resolutions heretofore adopted 

which are in conflict with this resolution shall, to the extent of such conflict, be and the same are 

hereby repealed. 
 

Section 5. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions of this resolution, shall 

for any reason be held illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any of the other 

provisions of this resolution, but this resolution shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal 

or invalid provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 
 

Section 6. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and 

the approval in effect until such time as the agreement(s) contemplated by the Morgan Assessors 

have been executed and fulfilled. 

 

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

- 112 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-008 

Page 3 of 4  

ADOPTED this 2nd day of March, 2021. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

Acting by and through its Board of Commissioners 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Philipp Von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Ben M. Riden, Jr., Vice-Chairman 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Andrew A. Ainslie, Jr., Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Donald B. Harris, Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Bill Kurtz, Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Attest:  Leslie Brandt, County Clerk 

- 113 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-008 

Page 4 of 4  

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 

 
The undersigned Clerk of the Board of Commissioners of Morgan County, Georgia (the 

“County”), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing pages constitute a true and correct 

copy of the Resolution of the Board of Commissioners of Morgan County Authorizing the 

Board of Tax Assessors of Morgan County to Enter Inter an Intergovernmental Agreement 

with the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton County 

and Walton County, the Board of Tax Assessors of Newton County, and the Board of Tax 

Assessors of Walton County, Regarding Project Baymare, and Related Purposes, adopted by 

the County at an open public meeting at which a quorum was present, duly called and lawfully 

assembled at 10:00 a.m. on the 2nd day of March, 2021, the original of such Resolution being duly 

recorded in the Minute Book of the County, which Minute Book is in my custody and control. 
 

I do hereby further certify that all members of the Board of Commissioners were present 

at said meeting except the following members who were absent: 
 

 
 

 

and that the Resolution was duly adopted by the following vote: 

The following voted “Aye”:     

 
 

. 
 

The following voted “Nay”: . 
 

The following Did Not Vote: . 
 

 

WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the Board of Commissioners of Morgan 

County, Georgia this 2nd day of March, 2021. 
 

 

 

 
 

Clerk, Board of Commissioners of Morgan County 
 

 

[SEAL] 

- 114 -



- 115 -



- 116 -



- 117 -



- 118 -



- 119 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 1 of 8 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE JOINT DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF JASPER COUNTY, 

MORGAN COUNTY, NEWTON COUNTY AND WALTON COUNTY 

 

RE:  Property Conveyance for Relocation of Morgan County Road 
 

WHEREAS, the Morgan County Board of Commissioners (“Morgan County”) is a political 

subdivision of the State of Georgia; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton 

County and Walton County, hereinafter the “Authority”, was duly formed under the Development 

Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. §36-62-1 et seq.; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Authority has the power to “sell, lease, exchange, transfer, assign, pledge, 

mortgage, dispose of, or grant options for any real or personal property or interest therein for any such 

purposes..." O.C.G.A. §36-62-6; and   

 

WHEREAS, Morgan County has the power to sell or grant real property to the Authority 

pursuant to O.C.G.A. §36-9-3(f); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Transportation owns an easement which is bordered 

on both sides by the Authority’s property and runs from the bridge over Interstate 20 South until it 

intersects with the now abandoned roadbed of Sewell Church Road as depicted in yellow and red on 

attached Exhibit “A” (the “Easement”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Authority requested that a portion of the Easement shown in yellow on 

Exhibit “A” and more fully described in Exhibit “B” be relocated to accommodate a project that will 

bring substantial investment and jobs to the four county region; and  

 

WHEREAS, to accommodate this request, GDOT has prepared a Quitclaim Deed conveying 

the Easement to Morgan County attached hereto as Exhibit “E”; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Authority and Morgan County have agreed to convey to one another property 

to allow a portion of the Easement to be relocated; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Authority and Morgan County have identified a property to the west of the 

Easement which is suitable for relocation of a portion of the Easement which is approximately 38,411 

sf and depicted in purple on attached Exhibit “A” and described more particularly in Exhibit “C”  (the 

“Swap Parcel”); and 

 

- 120 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 2 of 8 

 

WHEREAS, Morgan County shall maintain ownership of the portion of the Easement shown 

in red on Exhibit “A”; and  

 

WHEREAS, following the completion of the transactions contemplated herein, Morgan 

County shall own both the red and purple areas (approximately 50,009 sf) as depicted on Exhibit “A” 

which are more particularly described in Exhibit “D” and the Authority shall owner the area in yellow 

and described in Exhibit “B”. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Morgan County Board of Commissioners, 

as follows: 

 

1. The Board is hereby authorized to accept the Quitclaim Deed from the Georgia Department 

of Transportation for the roadway easement north and south of the I-20 bridge as shown on 

the Deed attached hereto as Exhibit “E”. 

 

2. The Board is hereby authorized to convey approximately 22,656 sf of property depicted in 

yellow on attached Exhibit “A” and as more particularly described in Exhibit “B” to the 

Joint Development Authority of Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton County and 

Walton County and to receive from the Authority approximately 38,411 sf of property as 

depicted in purple on attached Exhibit “A” and more particularly described in attached 

Exhibit “C” and referenced herein as the Swap Parcel.   

 

3. The Chairman and Secretary are authorized to execute, either singly or in combination, all 

documents and instruments necessary to accomplish the property exchange contemplated 

herein including without limitation all closing documents and other agreements with GDOT 

and the Authority.   

 

4. The Board hereby agrees to work with the Authority to determine the most feasible and 

economical option for constructing the new road within the purple area and the ongoing 

maintenance thereof.     

 

 SO RESOLVED this _____day of March 2021. 

 

  

- 121 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 3 of 8 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

Acting by and through its Board of Commissioners 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Philipp Von Hanstein, Chairman 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Ben M. Riden, Jr., Vice-Chairman 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Andrew A. Ainslie, Jr., Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Donald B. Harris, Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Bill Kurtz, Commissioner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Attest:  Leslie Brandt, County Clerk 

- 122 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 4 of 8 

 

Exhibit “A” 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 123 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 5 of 8 

 

Exhibit “B” – Easement Depicted in Yellow 

 

 

SURVEY LEGAL DESCRIPTION - ACQUISITION  
ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA DISTRICT 282, 

LAND LOTS 34, 19TH DISTRICT, MORGAN COUNTY AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 

(RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES) AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF US HIGHWAY 278 (RIGHT-OF-

WAY VARIES). THENCE, SOUTHEAST ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 FOR A DISTANCE OF 5208.87 FEET TO A POINT AT THE INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-

OF-WAY AND THE CENTERLINE OF DENNIS CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 THE FOLLOWING FOUR (4) COURSES 

AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, 

SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 53.32 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 08' 19" EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 70.71 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

4609.25 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 72° 11' 50" EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 49.03 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 16° 39' 41" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

6.43 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 

20. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

420.97 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 32° 36' 25" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 96.33 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38' 01" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 121.98 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 80° 58' 

17" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.09 FEET TO A POINT, SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38' 01" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 340.41 FEET TO A POINT ON A LINE. THENCE, 

NORTH 83° 21' 59" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT ON A LINE. THENCE, NORTH 06° 

38' 01" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 177.30 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, 

SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 32.88 FEET,THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 05° 

15' 02.9", HAVING A RADIUS OF 358.75 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 58° 46' 42" EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 32.87 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE 

TURNING TO THE LEFT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 167.29 FEET, THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 54° 46' 13.3", 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 175.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 34° 01' 07" EAST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 160.99 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 0.52 ACRES OR 22,656 SQUARE FEET MORE OR LESS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 124 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 6 of 8 

 

Exhibit “C” – Easement Depicted in Purple 

 

 

 

SURVEY LEGAL DISCRIPTION 
ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA DISTRICT 282, 

LAND LOTS 33, 34, 63, & 64, 19TH DISTRICT, MORGAN COUNTY; MILITIA DISTRICT 420, LAND LOTS 104 

& 105, 1ST DISTRICT, NEWTON COUNTY; & MILITIA DISTRICT 418, LAND LOTS 74, 75, 102, 103, 104, & 105, 

1ST DISTRICT, WALTON COUNTY, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 

(RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES) AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF US HIGHWAY 278 (RIGHT-OF-

WAY VARIES). THENCE, SOUTHEAST ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 FOR A DISTANCE OF 5208.87 FEET TO A POINT AT THE INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-

OF-WAY AND THE CENTERLINE OF DENNIS CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 THE FOLLOWING FOUR (4) COURSES 

AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, 

SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 53.32 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 08' 19" EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 70.71 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

4609.25 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 72° 11' 50" EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 49.03 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 16° 39' 41" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

6.43 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 

20. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY THE FOLLOWING THIRTEEN (13) COURSES AND 

DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 420.97 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 32° 

36' 25" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 96.33 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38' 01" WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 121.98 FEET TO A POINT, SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38' 01" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 167.30 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-

TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 24° 47' 40", 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 358.75 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS SOUTH 43° 45' 21" WEST FOR A 

DISTANCE OF 154.04 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-TANGENTIAL LINE. THENCE, 

SOUTH 33° 23' 53" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 37.43 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 36' 07" WEST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 33° 30' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

63.11 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE 

RIGHT THROUGH 138° 09' 17.1", HAVING A RADIUS OF 110.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

NORTH 39° 10' 04" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 205.49 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL 

CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH 101° 36' 41.5", HAVING A RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, 

AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 57° 26' 21" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 77.50 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 0.88 ACRES OR 38,411 SQUARE FEET MORE OR LESS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 125 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 7 of 8 

 

Exhibit “D” – Easement Depicted in Purple and Red 

 

 

SURVEY LEGAL DISCRIPTION – FULL ROW  
ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN AND BEING IN GEORGIA MILITIA DISTRICT 282, 

LAND LOTS 34, 19TH DISTRICT, MORGAN COUNTY AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 

(RIGHT-OF-WAY VARIES) AND THE SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF US HIGHWAY 278 (RIGHT-OF-

WAY VARIES). THENCE, SOUTHEAST ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE 

HIGHWAY 20 FOR A DISTANCE OF 5208.87 FEET TO A POINT AT THE INTERSECTION OF SAID RIGHT-

OF-WAY AND THE CENTERLINE OF DENNIS CREEK. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG THE 

SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 20 THE FOLLOWING FOUR (4) COURSES 

AND DISTANCES, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, 

SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 53.32 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 56° 08' 19" EAST 

FOR A DISTANCE OF 70.71 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

4609.25 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE LEAVING SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY, SOUTH 72° 11' 50" EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 49.03 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET. THENCE, NORTH 16° 39' 41" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

6.43 FEET TO A 5/8 REBAR SET ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY OF INTERSTATE HIGHWAY 

20. THENCE TRAVELING ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY SOUTH 78° 51' 41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

420.97 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, SOUTH 32° 36' 25" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 96.33 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, SOUTH 06° 38' 01" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 121.98 FEET TO A POINT, SAID POINT BEING 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

THENCE, SOUTH 80° 58' 17" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.09 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-

TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 167.29 FEET, 

THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 54° 46' 13.3", HAVING A RADIUS OF 175.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD 

BEARS SOUTH 34° 01' 07" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 160.99 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-

TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE TURNING TO THE LEFT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 188.14, THROUGH 

AN ANGLE OF 30° 02' 43.2", HAVING A RADIUS OF 358.75 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS 

SOUTH 46° 22' 52" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 185.98 FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH A NON-

TANGENTIAL LINE. THENCE, SOUTH 33° 23' 53" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 37.43 FEET TO A POINT. 

THENCE, NORTH 56° 36' 07" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 100.00 FEET TO A POINT. THENCE, NORTH 33° 30' 

41" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 63.11 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE, SAID 

CURVE TURNING TO THE RIGHT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 265.23 FEET,  THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 138° 09' 

17.1", HAVING A RADIUS OF 110.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 39° 10' 04" EAST FOR 

A DISTANCE OF 205.49 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENTIAL CURVE. SAID CURVE 

TURNING TO THE LEFT AN ARC DISTANCE OF 88.67, THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 101° 36' 41.5", HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 50.00 FEET, AND WHOSE LONG CHORD BEARS NORTH 57° 26' 21" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 

77.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

SAID TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 1.15 ACRES OR 50,009 SQUARE FEET MORE OR LESS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 126 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-009 

Page 8 of 8 

 

Exhibit “E” – GDOT Quitclaim Deed 

 

- 127 -



- 128 -



- 129 -



- 130 -



- 131 -



2021-RES-007 

1 of 2 

RESOLUTION – CONSENT TO ACQUISITION OF LAND FOR MADISON MUNICIPAL 
AIRPORT EXPANSION PROJECT 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF MORGAN 

WHEREAS, the City of Madison is authorized by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) 

and the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) to acquire certain property for an Airport Project 

known as the Madison Municipal Airport Expansion Project (the Project);  

WHEREAS, the Project is required for the safe operation, maintenance, and expansion of the 

Madison Municipal Airport; and 

WHEREAS, certain property needed for the Project is located in proximity to the Municipal 

Airport, but is outside the Madison City limits, and is located in Morgan County, being more particularly 

described as follows:   

Project Parcel 1:  47.608 acres described on plat attached as Exhibit A; 

Project Parcel 7:  0.412 acre described on plat attached as Exhibit B; and 

Project Parcel 9:  0.381 acre described on plat attached as Exhibit C. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Morgan County, by and through its Board of 

Commissioners and pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 6-3-22, hereby consents to the City of Madison’s use of the 

power of eminent domain outside of the City limits in the unincorporated area of the County for the sole 

purpose of condemning the property more particularly described as Exhibits A, B, and C attached hereto, 

which is necessary for the above-described Project. 

So Resolved, this This Resolution is hereby adopted this 2nd day of March, 2021. 

MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, 
Acting by and through its Board of Commissioners 

- 132 -



 
 
 

2021-RES-007 

2 of 2 

 
___________________________________________ 
Philipp Von Hanstein, Chairman 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Ben M. Riden, Jr., Vice-Chairman 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Andrew A. Ainslie, Jr., Commissioner 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Donald B. Harris, Commissioner 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Bill Kurtz, Commissioner 

  
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Attest:  Leslie Brandt, County Clerk 

 
 

- 133 -



- 134 -



- 135 -



- 136 -



- 137 -



- 138 -



- 139 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-010 

Page 1 of 2 

 

RESOLUTION – EXTENSION OF TEMPORARY MORATORIUM 

ON APPLICATIONS FOR THE SUBDIVISION OF PROPERTY UNDER 

MORGAN COUNTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF MORGAN 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Morgan County passed a temporary moratorium on 

all subdivisions of property on October 20, 2020 for a period of approximately 90 days for the 

purpose of promulgating revised development regulations and ensuring that all further 

subdivision of property in the unincorporated areas of Morgan County comply with the new or 

revised regulations;  

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners amended that moratorium by Resolution on 

November 11, 2020; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners extended the moratorium and amendment by Resolution 

on January 19, 2021; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners, its departments, agents and employees have been 

diligently working on such new/revised development regulations but have not had sufficient time 

to complete such revisions, but anticipate completing such revisions soon; 

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest to briefly extend the current temporary moratorium on all 

applications and submissions for the subdivision of land under the Morgan County Development 

Regulations, within the unincorporated limits of Morgan County, Georgia, except for those 

certain exempt subdivisions governed by the current Morgan County Development Regulations 

in § 1.4.2 (a) “Recombination” and § 1.4.2 (d) “One-lot Split;” and 

WHEREAS, the Morgan County Board of Commissioners finds the following resolution 

promotes the health, safety and welfare of Morgan County. 

- 140 -



 

 

 

2021-RES-010 

Page 2 of 2 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

The Morgan County Board of Commissioners hereby extends the temporary moratorium passed 

by the Board on October 20, 2020 and amended November 11, 2020 through 

_____________________, or until such time as the relevant sections of the Morgan County 

Development Regulations are amended and/or revised, whichever occurs first. 

SO RESOLVED, this 2nd day of March, 2021. 

 MORGAN COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

Acting by and through its Board of Commissioners 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Philipp Von Hanstein, Chairman 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Ben M. Riden, Jr., Vice-Chairman 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Andrew A. Ainslie, Jr., Commissioner 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Donald B. Harris, Commissioner 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Bill Kurtz, Commissioner 

  

 

___________________________________________ 

Attest:  Leslie Brandt, County Clerk 

 

- 141 -



- 142 -



- 143 -



- 144 -



RequesttoAbandonaportionof
CR67-CummingDrive

MarshallStoreRoad

Watkinsville,Georgia30677

- 145 -



Jarreli, Chuck

From:

Sent:

To:

Subject:
Attachments:

Sent from Mail for Windows 10

Barbie <barbie7777@comcast.net>

Friday, February 12, 2021 1:07 PM
taylor@pinecreekga.com; Jarreli, Chuck
Attached is signed request for Gate at: 1390 Atlanta Hwy Madison
2021-02-12_130445.pdf

Georgia Open Records Act: Under Georgia law, all information, including e-mail, written letters, documents and phone
messages, sent to the County Board of Commissioners and County offices and employees is subject to Public Records
law. This includes the sender's e-mail address, home address or phone number if shown in the message, the content of
the message and any associated attachments to the mail.

- 146 -



February 12,2021

Morgan County

Attn: Chuck Jarrells

ThisIs in regards to my property at the Following address:

1390 Atlanta Hwy
Madison, GA 30650

Iwould like the countyto allow me to add a gate to myPropertyentrance. Iam asking that myroad at
my Property line be abandoned bythe county.

Ifyou any questions you can email me or reach me at 770-601-0772.

Thanking you in advance.

)ara Williams

Barbie7777@comcast.net

- 147 -



l7lOMa.n Co.

j— AM

rV

/3f0 lIlA

Wi^fd

. I-

doling
aJ- M

uf Ou

- 148 -



- 149 -



- 150 -



- 151 -



- 152 -



- 153 -



- 154 -



- 155 -



- 156 -



- 157 -



- 158 -



- 159 -



- 160 -


	Top
	Item1.	Scheduled Public Comment-Matthew Schulze 03022021
	03022021 scheduled public comment-Matthew Shulze

	Item2.	February 02, 2021 BOC Meeting
	2-02-2021 BOC Minutes-Draft

	Item3.	February 09, 2021 Public Hearing
	2-09-2021 Public Hearing - Draft

	Item4.	February 09, 2021 Special Called Meeting
	2-09-2021 Special Called-Draft

	Item5.	February 16, 2021 Work Session
	2-16-2021 Work Session Minutes - draft

	Item6.	February 16, 2021 BOC Meeting
	2-16-2021 BOC Minutes - Draft

	Item7.	Feb. 2021 Financials
	Feb 2021 Financials

	Item8.	Georgia Sheriffs Youth Homes Foundation rezone
	staffreport.february.gasheriffs.rezone

	Item9.	Farmview variance
	staffreport.february.kelly.var

	Item10.	Development Services Intergovernmental Contract between the JDA, Jasper County, Morgan County, Newton County and Walton County
	Development IGA
	1 Development Services IGA - Execution Copy for Counties and JDA 2.23.21

	Item11.	Development Agreement between Baymare and Newton County - Acknowledgment
	Develop Agree
	Baymare Development Agreement(66568066v11) 2.25.21 provided to Counties

	Item12.	Infrastructure Agreement between Baymare and the JDA -Acknowledgement
	Infrastructure
	4 Acknowledgement of Infrastructure Agreement EXECUTION COPY 2.23.21

	Item13.	Resolution to Authorize the Morgan County Board of Tax Assessors to Enter into a Contract with Baymare and the JDA
	RES008
	2021-RES-008  Authorize BOA to contract EXECUTION IGA with JDA-Baymare Project 03022021

	Item14.	GDOT Quitclaim Deed Sewell Church Rd ROW
	Quitclaim
	GDOT Quitclaim Deed

	Item15.	Resolution - Property Conveyance for Relocation of a portion of Sewell Church Rd
	Property Convey
	2021-RES-009 GDOT property exchange for Morgan County 03022021
	GDOT Quitclaim Deed

	Item16.	Resolution - Consent to Acquisition of Land for Madison Airport Expansion
	airport
	Resolution - Madison Airport - 3-2-21
	Airport Plat

	Item17.	RESOLUTION – EXTENSION OF TEMPORARY MORATORIUM
	2021-RES-010 RESOLUTION – EXTENSION OF TEMPORARY MORATORIUM-03022021

	Item18.	Fairplay Management - Alcohol License
	Application for Eligibility

	Item19.	Cumming Drive Partial Road Abandonment Request
	Cumming Drive Request

	Item20.	CR-235 Road Abandonment Request
	Request to Abandon CR-235

	Item21.	Fee Schedule for Animal Services
	Animal Service Fee Schedule 03022021

	Item22.	Hard Labor Creek State Park Request
	Hard Labor Request

	Item23.	County Manager Report
	Item24.	Public Comments on Agenda Items
	Bottom

